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09:34   1      HEARING IN CAMERA 
09:34   2 
09:34   3 
09:34   4      COMMISSIONER:  Good morning.  Thank you. 
09:34   5 
09:34   6      MR BORSKY:  Morning, Commissioner.  If it is convenient I 
09:34   7      thought I would address you on the question of the redacted 
09:34   8      emails that you raised yesterday. 
09:34   9 
09:34  10      COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 
09:34  11 
09:34  12 
09:34  13      HOUSEKEEPING 
09:34  14 
09:34  15 
09:34  16      MR BORSKY:  Those being the emails that --- 
09:35  17 
09:35  18      COMMISSIONER:  Kozminsky said you don't have to give me. 
09:35  19 
09:35  20      MR BORSKY:  Yes.  Yes, I've had a discussion with Junior 
09:35  21      Counsel Assisting overnight as well.  The issue, if I may put it 
09:35  22      this way, is the emails themselves do not record advice to the 
09:35  23      effect that Crown breached its obligations.  Rather, as Counsel 
09:35  24      Assisting anticipated in his questions of Mr Mackay, that they 
09:35  25      call for instructions and comments on draft cover letters and 
09:35  26      tables which were in production in response to RFI-002.  So our 
09:35  27      submission is that the emails record legal advice that is excluded 
09:35  28      from the scope of production according to the 23 March letter 
09:35  29      that Solicitors Assisting wrote.  They do arguably record legal 
09:35  30      advice and call for instructions as to the manner in which Crown 
09:35  31      should respond to RFI-002, which in our submission is not 
09:36  32      precisely the same as to advice or instructions as to the merits of 
09:36  33      the question of whether Crown had or even might have breached 
09:36  34      its obligation.  So, on that basis we --- 
09:36  35 
09:36  36      COMMISSIONER:  Isn't the subject matter necessarily whether 
09:36  37      whatever is in a draft schedule, let's say there are ten items, isn't 
09:36  38      the subject necessarily, "please check whether these are items 
09:36  39      where you have or may have contravened?" 
09:36  40 
09:36  41      A.  Our submission is, no, that's not necessarily the subject 
09:36  42      matter, and in fact, the terms of the emails themselves don't speak 
09:36  43      in that voice.  The terms --- 
09:36  44 
09:36  45      COMMISSIONER:  Are they, "please check to see whether 
09:37  46      we've got it right?" 
09:37  47
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09:40   1      that will be the subject of criticism.  Not surprisingly.  I'm being 
09:40   2      as frank as I can.  If you think the documents might dissuade me 
09:40   3      from that course, you better give them to me otherwise that seems 
09:40   4      to me to be a logical inference to draw from the facts I know up 
09:40   5      until this point. 
09:40   6 
09:40   7      MR BORSKY:  Yes. 
09:40   8 
09:40   9      COMMISSIONER:  And taking into account what I assume 
09:40  10      an efficient solicitor would do when compiling such a document, 
09:40  11      ie, that all the information is in the knowledge of the client, the 
09:40  12      solicitor needs instructions to complete the information and the 
09:40  13      solicitor therefore seeks those instructions from a client.  So if 
09:40  14      there is something missing, it is not the solicitor's fault, or it 
09:40  15      might be, partially, but it is the client's fault, and that's why the 
09:40  16      question was to whom did the document in draft go; one person, 
09:41  17      two people, ten people --- 
09:41  18 
09:41  19      MR BORSKY:  And that question has been answered, even with 
09:41  20      the extensively redacted documents.  That's been answered. 
09:41  21 
09:41  22      COMMISSIONER:  Can I tell what is the subject?  Does it say 
09:41  23      "here is a draft"?  I haven't got the document here with me with 
09:41  24      redactions but I had a quick look at it and I couldn't even tell --- 
09:41  25 
09:41  26      MR BORSKY:  That's correct.  I have just told you something of 
09:41  27      it in private session, but you are quite right, you have, for all 
09:41  28      intents and purposes, completely redacted emails save for the 
09:41  29      recipients and the dates, and that was, as I say, put in answer to 
09:41  30      Mr Kozminsky's question: he said "All I want to know is who 
09:41  31      received them" -- 
09:41  32 
09:41  33      COMMISSIONER:  I will have to read the question and see - if 
09:41  34      he says who received the draft or comment or something like that, 
09:41  35      if that's clear, that might be enough because that's all I want to 
09:41  36      look at the documents or read the emails for.  But I will have to 
09:42  37      go back to the discussion about - or the call for the documents, 
09:42  38      really, to see exactly how it was put. 
09:42  39 
09:42  40      MR BORSKY:  Again, we appreciate that notwithstanding how it 
09:42  41      was put, you can direct us to produce what you like. 
09:42  42 
09:42  43      COMMISSIONER:  I know. 
09:42  44 
09:42  45      MR BORSKY:  But if you do wish to go back to the transcript, 
09:42  46      may I suggest that you look at P-2343 and P-2344 and similarly 
09:42  47      2438.  It is plain in our respectful submission that Counsel
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09:42   1      Assisting was anticipating that there would be redactions.  His 
09:42   2      words was "cuts", and all he wanted to know was the recipients 
09:42   3      of the draft. 
09:42   4 
09:42   5      COMMISSIONER:  That's the recipients of the drafts of the 
09:42   6      schedules --- 
09:42   7 
09:42   8      MR BORSKY:  The cover letter and tables that had been 
09:42   9      prepared in response to the RFI-002.  And prior to those calls in 
09:42  10      the preceding page or two, Counsel Assisting, correctly, with 
09:42  11      respect, anticipated in his question that the nature of that 
09:42  12      correspondence between Allens and Crown was calling for 
09:43  13      recipients at Crown to provide any comments and check for 
09:43  14      accuracy. 
09:43  15 
09:43  16      COMMISSIONER:  Well, I would have inferred that. 
09:43  17 
09:43  18      MR BORSKY:  And that was confirmed by Mr Maher on 
09:43  19      transcript. 
09:43  20 
09:43  21      COMMISSIONER:  I will have a look at that. 
09:43  22 
09:43  23      MR BORSKY:  If the Commissioner please. 
09:43  24 
09:43  25      MS NESKOVCIN:  Commissioner, the next witness is 
09:43  26      Mr Richard Murphy.  There are additional appearances this 
09:43  27      morning at the bar table. 
09:43  28 
09:43  29      COMMISSIONER:  Good morning. 
09:43  30 
09:43  31      MR HANKS:  Good morning, Commissioner.  I appear with 
09:43  32      Ms Gordon.  We are instructed by MinterEllison.  We are here to 
09:43  33      look after Mr Murphy. 
09:43  34 
09:43  35      COMMISSIONER:  He probably doesn't need any looking after. 
09:43  36 
09:43  37      MR HANKS:  That's a good thing! 
09:43  38 
09:43  39      COMMISSIONER:  All right. 
09:43  40 
09:43  41      MS NESKOVCIN:  I call Mr Murphy. 
09:44  42 
09:44  43 
09:44  44      MR RICHARD DOUGLAS MURPHY, AFFIRMED 
09:44  45 
09:44  46 
09:44  47      EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS NESKOVCIN
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09:44   1 
09:44   2 
09:44   3      MS NESKOVCIN:  Mr Murphy, would you please state your full 
09:44   4      name. 
09:44   5 
09:44   6      A.  Richard Douglas Murphy. 
09:44   7 
09:44   8      Q.  And your business address, please? 
09:44   9 
09:44  10      A.  447 Collins Street, Melbourne. 
09:44  11 
09:44  12      Q.  You are a legal practitioner? 
09:44  13 
09:44  14      A.  That's correct. 
09:44  15 
09:44  16      Q.  Mr Murphy, in the Commission today it is a closed session, 
09:44  17      non-publication orders have been made. 
09:44  18 
09:44  19      Commissioner, yesterday evening we made non-publication 
09:44  20      orders.  Unfortunately they weren't circulated last night.  They are 
09:44  21      being circulated now.  So everybody knows, it is a witness out of 
09:44  22      court order. 
09:44  23 
09:44  24      Mr Murphy, you are a partner at the law firm MinterEllison? 
09:44  25 
09:44  26      A.  That's correct. 
09:44  27 
09:45  28      Q.  How long have you been a partner? 
09:45  29 
09:45  30      A.  Thirty-seven years tomorrow, I think. 
09:45  31 
09:45  32      Q.  Happy anniversary. 
09:45  33 
09:45  34      In recent times you have provided legal services to Crown 
09:45  35      Resorts Ltd? 
09:45  36 
09:45  37      A.  That's correct. 
09:45  38 
09:45  39      Q.  And to Crown Melbourne Ltd? 
09:45  40 
09:45  41      A.  Yes. 
09:45  42 
09:45  43      Q.  I will call them collectively Crown and if I want to 
09:45  44      distinguish I will, if that's all right with you? 
09:45  45 
09:45  46      A.  Yes. 
09:45  47
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09:45   1      Q.  Some of the matters on which you've assisted Crown in 
09:45   2      providing legal services include the VCGLR's Sixth Casino 
09:45   3      Review? 
09:45   4 
09:45   5      A.  Correct. 
09:45   6 
09:45   7      Q.  And you recall that the time frame for that review is 2013 
09:45   8      to 2018? 
09:45   9 
09:45  10      A.  Yes. 
09:45  11 
09:45  12      Q.  Each review is a five-year period? 
09:45  13 
09:45  14      A.  Yes. 
09:45  15 
09:45  16      Q.  You've also assisted Crown on a number of matters arising 
09:45  17      out of or following the arrest of 19 Crown staff in China in 2016? 
09:45  18 
09:45  19      A.  Correct. 
09:45  20 
09:45  21      Q.  That included assisting Crown in the VCGLR's 
09:45  22      investigation in relation to the China arrests? 
09:45  23 
09:46  24      A.  Yes. 
09:46  25 
09:46  26      Q.  You responded, or you briefed the board regularly, the CRL 
09:46  27      Board regularly in relation to the China arrests? 
09:46  28 
09:46  29      A.  That's correct. 
09:46  30 
09:46  31      Q.  You've assisted in providing responses or comments on 
09:46  32      draft reports that the VCGLR prepared in relation to the China 
09:46  33      arrests? 
09:46  34 
09:46  35      A.  Yes. 
09:46  36 
09:46  37      Q.  You've also had a role in reviewing overseas operations or 
09:46  38      offices of Crown? 
09:46  39 
09:46  40      A.  Yes - well, in reviewing legal advice from overseas in 
09:46  41      connection with those operations, yes. 
09:46  42 
09:46  43      Q.  Thank you. 
09:46  44 
09:46  45      MinterEllison has represented Crown in the class action in the 
09:46  46      Federal Court that commenced in December 2017? 
09:46  47
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09:46   1      A.  That's correct. 
09:46   2 
09:46   3      Q.  I'm not sure whether you call it this, but are you the 
09:46   4      relationship partner for Crown or the contact point? 
09:46   5 
09:46   6      A.  Yes. 
09:46   7 
09:46   8      Q.  Does that mean that you generally have oversight of all 
09:46   9      legal matters that MinterEllison are working on for Crown? 
09:47  10 
09:47  11      A.  No, that would be overstating my role.  There is other 
09:47  12      partners involved in the Crown relationship.  I was the principal 
09:47  13      liaison in relation to matters concerning the China arrests. 
09:47  14 
09:47  15      Q.  I see.  Your primary contacts or persons from whom you 
09:47  16      obtained instructions from Crown were, over the years, Debra 
09:47  17      Tegoni? 
09:47  18 
09:47  19      A.  Correct. 
09:47  20 
09:47  21      Q.  Mr Joshua Preston? 
09:47  22 
09:47  23      A.  Yes. 
09:47  24 
09:47  25      Q.  Mary Manos? 
09:47  26 
09:47  27      A.  Yes. 
09:47  28 
09:47  29      Q.  And Jan Williamson? 
09:47  30 
09:47  31      A.  Yes, peripherally.  And also Michael Neilson, who was the 
09:47  32      General Counsel of Crown Resorts in 2017. 
09:47  33 
09:47  34      Q.  Thank you.  From time to time, in presenting to the Board, 
09:47  35      would you also have one-on-one discussions with any of the 
09:48  36      directors? 
09:48  37 
09:48  38      A.  Occasionally, yes. 
09:48  39 
09:48  40      Q.  At the time you've been advising Crown over the years, 
09:48  41      you've understood, haven't you, the importance of Crown having 
09:48  42      an open, honest and cooperative relationship with the regulator? 
09:48  43 
09:48  44      A.  Yes. 
09:48  45 
09:48  46      Q.  You also have an understanding of the regulator's statutory 
09:48  47      functions, powers and obligations?
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09:48   1 
09:48   2      A.  Yes. 
09:48   3 
09:48   4      Q.  And its powers in particular in relation to the section 24 and 
09:48   5      25 reviews? 
09:48   6 
09:48   7      A.  Yes. 
09:48   8 
09:48   9      Q.  And in relation to overseas jurisdictions and offices, 
09:48  10      although you weren't providing advice about the law in those 
09:48  11      countries, you understood, didn't you, that it was important for 
09:48  12      Crown to comply with the law in those jurisdictions? 
09:48  13 
09:48  14      A.  Yes. 
09:48  15 
09:48  16      Q.  Now I want to ask you questions starting in 2017, so just by 
09:49  17      way of context and to assist your memory, you might recall that 
09:49  18      the 19 Crown staff in China were arrested in October 2016? 
09:49  19 
09:49  20      A.  Yes. 
09:49  21 
09:49  22      Q.  And they were sentenced in June 2017? 
09:49  23 
09:49  24      A.  Yes. 
09:49  25 
09:49  26      Q.  Some were released in July and the rest were released in 
09:49  27      August 2017? 
09:49  28 
09:49  29      A.  Yes. 
09:49  30 
09:49  31      Q.  In February 2017 you attended and presented at a Board 
09:49  32      meeting of CRL; do you recall that? 
09:49  33 
09:49  34      A.  Yes, I do. 
09:49  35 
09:49  36      Q.  Was it your practice to prepare some speaking notes and 
09:49  37      speak to them at a meeting? 
09:49  38 
09:49  39      A.  Yes, it was. 
09:49  40 
09:49  41      Q.  Beforehand, you would send them to Ms Manos or 
09:49  42      Mr Preston, whoever was providing instructions to you? 
09:49  43 
09:49  44      A.  That's correct.  In 2017 it would have been Debra Tegoni 
09:49  45      and Michael Neilson and probably the then CEO, Rowen Craigie. 
09:49  46 
09:50  47      Q.  Was that because they would actually do a presentation to

CRW.512.261.0009
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10:10   1      notes that you and Ms Tegoni prepared were not produced in the 
10:10   2      ILGA Inquiry in NSW in 2019 and 2020? 
10:11   3 
10:11   4      A.  I think that's correct. 
10:11   5 
10:11   6      Q.  They would have been privileged? 
10:11   7 
10:11   8      A.  Yes. 
10:11   9 
10:11  10      Q.  Moving on to August 2017, you recall the detainees were 
10:11  11      released in July or August 2017? 
10:11  12 
10:11  13      A.  Yes. 
10:11  14 
10:11  15      Q.  And at that point also the VCGLR's Sixth Review was 
10:11  16      underway? 
10:11  17 
10:11  18      A.  Yes. 
10:11  19 
10:11  20      Q.  You considered it likely that the China arrests would be the 
10:11  21      subject matter of comment in the Sixth Review report, did you 
10:11  22      not? 
10:11  23 
10:11  24      A.  Yes. 
10:11  25 
10:11  26      Q.  You had started to prepare a response on behalf of the 
10:11  27      board in anticipation of any inquiries that the VCGLR might 
10:11  28      make? 
10:11  29 
10:11  30      A.  Yes, I think so. 
10:11  31 
10:11  32      Q.  I will show you this document.  It is CRW.515.002.2482. 
10:12  33      I will show you the date at the end of this document, operator, on 
10:12  34      page 2487, please.  You notice the date there, Mr Murphy? 
10:12  35 
10:12  36      A.  Yes. 
10:12  37 
10:12  38      Q.  That's what I had in mind as a response. 
10:12  39 
10:12  40      A.  Yes. 
10:12  41 
10:12  42      Q.  Going back to the first page, please, operator, it is headed, 
10:12  43      "Draft statement for regulatory purposes"? 
10:12  44 
10:12  45      A.  Yes. 
10:12  46 
10:12  47      Q.  I think you are aware that in August 2017, or on 31 August
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10:12   1      2017, Mr Joshua Preston prepared a presentation for the VCGLR? 
10:12   2 
10:12   3      A.  Yes, I think so. 
10:12   4 
10:12   5      Q.  I can take you to one of your notes, but take it --- 
10:12   6 
10:12   7      A.  Yes. 
10:12   8 
10:12   9      Q.  --- from me that he did. 
10:12  10 
10:12  11      A.  Yes. 
10:12  12 
10:12  13      Q.  Thank you.  Do you know if he used the document that you 
10:13  14      are looking at on the screen to assist in his preparation of the 
10:13  15      presentation? 
10:13  16 
10:13  17      A.  No, I don't know. 
10:13  18 
10:13  19      Q.  Do you recall assisting him prepare a PowerPoint 
10:13  20      presentation or some handouts for the VCGLR? 
10:13  21 
10:13  22      A.  No, I don't, directly. 
10:13  23 
10:13  24      Q.  Moving on again, the VCGLR are asking for documents 
10:13  25      throughout 2017; you recall that? 
10:13  26 
10:13  27      A.  Yes. 
10:13  28 
10:13  29      Q.  MinterEllison got involved with assisting and responding 
10:13  30      potentially later that year or at least by the beginning of 2018? 
10:13  31 
10:13  32      A.  Yes. 
10:13  33 
10:13  34      Q.  Section 26 notices were issued? 
10:13  35 
10:13  36      A.  Yes. 
10:13  37 
10:13  38      Q.  The class action commences in December 2017? 
10:14  39 
10:14  40      A.  Yes. 
10:14  41 
10:14  42      Q.  And you will recall that the VCGLR started interviewing 
10:14  43      some of the staff such as Mr Felstead and Mr O'Connor in early 
10:14  44      2018? 
10:14  45 
10:14  46      A.  Yes. 
10:14  47
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10:14   1      Q.  You were personally present during all of those interviews, 
10:14   2      I think. 
10:14   3 
10:14   4      A.  Yes, I was, other than Michael Chen in New York, yes. 
10:14   5 
10:14   6      Q.  Thank you.  So I will show you another document just so 
10:14   7      that we can put the context around the timing. 
10:14   8      MEM.5001.0001.4068.  See the date of this document, 
10:14   9      Mr Murphy, 17 May 2018 to Mr Berriman and Mr Bryant at the 
10:14  10      VCGLR? 
10:14  11 
10:14  12      A.  Yes. 
10:14  13 
10:15  14      Q.  They were investigators that were involved in the 
10:15  15      interviews or that you were corresponding with in relation to the 
10:15  16      China Arrests Investigation? 
10:15  17 
10:15  18      A.  Yes. 
10:15  19 
10:15  20      Q.  This was after the interviews that we just spoke about? 
10:15  21 
10:15  22      A.  After at least some of them. 
10:15  23 
10:15  24      Q.  In this letter, what I suggest you were trying to was 
10:15  25      anticipate some of the points that the VCGLR were interested in, 
10:15  26      having regard to their lines of inquiry during the interview. 
10:15  27 
10:15  28      A.  Yes. 
10:15  29 
10:15  30      Q.  I want to go through some of the headings so we can get 
10:15  31      an idea of some of the themes being conveyed on behalf of 
10:15  32      Crown.  If you want to stop at any point or look at anything, do 
10:15  33      let me know.  But I will go through and identify headings and 
10:15  34      paragraphs. 
10:15  35 
10:15  36      The first heading, just before paragraph 5, operator, please scroll 
10:16  37      down, this section was making some points about the "relevant 
10:16  38      Chinese law", being Article 303 of the Criminal Law and 
10:16  39      Crown's understanding of that provision at the time; do you see 
10:16  40      that? 
10:16  41 
10:16  42      A.  Yes. 
10:16  43 
10:16  44      Q.  Then over the page the next heading, "Crown's knowledge 
10:16  45      and belief".  I draw your attention to the first sentence in 
10:16  46      paragraph 7: 
10:16  47
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10:16   1               Crown understood at all times prior to the detention of 
10:16   2               the Crown group staff that they were operating in such 
10:16   3               a manner as to not infringe Article 303. 
10:16   4 
10:16   5      A.  Yes. 
10:16   6 
10:16   7      Q.  The next heading, "The detention, arrest, charging and 
10:16   8      conviction of Crown group staff", the point there was that the 
10:16   9      detentions occurred "out of the blue"; do you see that? 
10:16  10 
10:16  11      A.  Yes. 
10:16  12 
10:16  13      Q.  The next heading towards the end of the page, please, 
10:16  14      operator, "February 2015 'crackdown'"; that related to a media 
10:17  15      report by the Ministry of Public Security regarding what was 
10:17  16      generally called the "crackdown".  If we could pass over to the 
10:17  17      next page on paragraph 18, Crown was making the point, 
10:17  18      mentioned in the first sentence that: 
10:17  19 
10:17  20               ..... none of Michael Chen's superiors in the reporting line 
10:17  21               specifically recalled mention of foreign casinos in the 
10:17  22               context of the media reporting of the crackdown. 
10:17  23 
10:17  24      A.  Yes. 
10:17  25 
10:17  26      Q.  One of the themes that keeps coming up was what was the 
10:17  27      February crackdown about and what was Crown's understanding 
10:17  28      of the media updates or announcements about the crackdown. 
10:17  29 
10:17  30      The next theme is the "detention of South Korean casino staff in 
10:17  31      June 2015".  Do you see that? 
10:17  32 
10:17  33      A.  Yes. 
10:17  34 
10:18  35      Q.  The next heading, "Police interview of Benny Xiong in July 
10:18  36      2015"; a few points made about that. 
10:18  37 
10:18  38      Next, at the bottom of the page, "risk management"; paragraph 
10:18  39      29: 
10:18  40 
10:18  41               The Crown Group has a well-established risk 
10:18  42               management framework and processes. 
10:18  43 
10:18  44      Do you see that? 
10:18  45 
10:18  46      A.  Yes. 
10:18  47
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10:18   1      Q.  Risk management became a point of interest throughout the 
10:18   2      VCGLR's investigation? 
10:18   3 
10:18   4      A.  Yes, in conjunction with the Sixth Review. 
10:18   5 
10:18   6      Q.  Yes, and you understood their interest in risk management 
10:18   7      as relevant to a suitability criteria? 
10:18   8 
10:18   9      A.  Yes. 
10:18  10 
10:18  11      Q.  That was because one of the suitability issues under section 
10:18  12      9 of the Casino Control Act is effectively whether there are 
10:18  13      proper processes in place within the organisation? 
10:18  14 
10:18  15      A.  Yes. 
10:18  16 
10:18  17      Q.  Operator, could we please go to the next page, the middle 
10:19  18      of the page, please, "Hindsight".  One of the matters that Crown 
10:19  19      was trying to urge on the VCGLR is caution about hindsight 
10:19  20      bias? 
10:19  21 
10:19  22      A.  Yes. 
10:19  23 
10:19  24      Q.  We'll be coming back to this document later but I wanted 
10:19  25      you to bear in mind some of those themes in the document 
10:19  26      because I will be coming to some of those in the context of other 
10:19  27      documents as well. 
10:19  28 
10:19  29      This is May 2018 and the VCGLR was due to complete its Sixth 
10:19  30      Review report around end of June 2018; do you recall that? 
10:19  31 
10:19  32      A.  Yes. 
10:19  33 
10:19  34      Q.  I'm not sure whether at this stage you had seen a draft of the 
10:19  35      Sixth Review report. 
10:19  36 
10:19  37      A.  I'm not sure either. 
10:19  38 
10:19  39      Q.  I can't assist you with that, but what I wanted to ask, or see 
10:20  40      if you agree with, is that what Crown's objective was at this point 
10:20  41      was to try to get the VCGLR to say nothing about the China 
10:20  42      arrests in the Sixth Review report; do you agree with that? 
10:20  43 
10:20  44      A.  Yes, that did become the objective, yes. 
10:20  45 
10:20  46      Q.  At what point did you think it became the objective? 
10:20  47
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10:20   1      A.  Well, probably around this June period, I think. 
10:20   2 
10:20   3      Q.  And that was, I suggest to you, partly because first of all it 
10:20   4      would be prejudicial to Crown? 
10:20   5 
10:20   6      A.  Yes. 
10:20   7 
10:20   8      Q.  Secondly, what Crown was trying to urge on the VCGLR 
10:20   9      was that there was an element of unfairness in doing so after 
10:20  10      having not completed a thorough investigation? 
10:20  11 
10:20  12      A.  Yes. 
10:20  13 
10:20  14      Q.  I think your --- the term that was used in some of your 
10:20  15      letters was that it was a "summary procedure"? 
10:21  16 
10:21  17      A.  Did I say that? 
10:21  18 
10:21  19      Q.  I will take you to it in a minute. 
10:21  20 
10:21  21      A.  Okay, yes, the process hadn't been completed until it was 
10:21  22      completed --- 
10:21  23 
10:21  24      Q.  That's what you meant.  I don't think you meant we were 
10:21  25      going straight to summary judgment. 
10:21  26 
10:21  27      A.  Yes. 
10:21  28 
10:21  29      Q.  It was really the process.  You were concerned about 
10:21  30      procedural fairness --- 
10:21  31 
10:21  32      A.  Yes. 
10:21  33 
10:21  34      Q.  --- and the thoroughness of the investigation. 
10:21  35 
10:21  36      A.  Yes. 
10:21  37 
10:21  38      Q.  And certainly at this point Crown was continuing to 
10:21  39      produce documents to the VCGLR? 
10:21  40 
10:21  41      A.  That's correct. 
10:21  42 
10:21  43      Q.  And I think you made the point that not all people had been 
10:21  44      investigated? 
10:21  45 
10:21  46      A.  Yes, I'm not sure whether they had at this point because 
10:21  47      I see there was reference to Michael Chen's interview.  So
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10:21   1      I believe that was the last of the interviews. 
10:21   2 
10:21   3      Q.  What then occurred, and I will show you a letter from the 
10:21   4      VCGLR, MEM.5001.0001.4035.  It seemed that the VCGLR 
10:22   5      were somewhat persuaded by that submission, and they edited the 
10:22   6      Sixth Review report to make reference to the investigation but not 
10:22   7      deal with it in detail, and then they prepared a summary report 
10:22   8      dealing with the China Arrests Investigation.  So if we look at the 
10:22   9      letter that you are shown on the screen, it is a letter of 8 
10:22  10      June from the VCGLR to Mr John Alexander, Chair of Crown 
10:22  11      Melbourne Ltd at the time.  You will see in the first paragraph the 
10:22  12      reference to the draft Sixth Casino Review Report? 
10:22  13 
10:22  14      A.  Yes. 
10:22  15 
10:22  16      Q.  The second paragraph says: 
10:22  17 
10:22  18               That draft omitted opinions and findings relating to the 
10:22  19               detention of 19 Crown staff in China in October 2016. 
10:22  20               That matter has been the subject of a separate 
10:22  21               investigation by VCGLR Compliance Division staff, 
10:23  22               a draft report of which has now been received by the 
10:23  23               Commission (Compliance Division China Report). 
10:23  24 
10:23  25      Then just jumping a paragraph, they are asking for a response to 
10:23  26      the material by the close of business, Friday, 15 June 2018.  Do 
10:23  27      you see that? 
10:23  28 
10:23  29      A.  Yes. 
10:23  30 
10:23  31      Q.  So the comments about the investigation in the Sixth 
10:23  32      Review Report have been removed, a separate summary report 
10:23  33      has been prepared and provided to Crown Melbourne for 
10:23  34      comment? 
10:23  35 
10:23  36      A.  Yes. 
10:23  37 
10:23  38      Q.  You agree with that? 
10:23  39 
10:23  40      A.  Yes. 
10:23  41 
10:23  42      Q.  Were you asked to have a look at it? 
10:23  43 
10:23  44      A.  Yes. 
10:23  45 
10:23  46      Q.  Operator, please call up MEM.5001.0001.4033. 
10:23  47
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10:27   1 
10:27   2      This issue, Mr Murphy, of "escalating risk" was a theme that the 
10:28   3      VCGLR pursued from this point on and, indeed, in the interviews 
10:28   4      in 2018; correct? 
10:28   5 
10:28   6      A.  Correct. 
10:28   7 
10:28   8      Q.  It was based on facts which I say evidence the escalating 
10:28   9      risk such as the ones mentioned there? 
10:28  10 
10:28  11      A.  Correct. 
10:28  12 
10:28  13      Q.  An issue they were also pursuing was also Crown's 
10:28  14      knowledge of those risks? 
10:28  15 
10:28  16      A.  Yes. 
10:28  17 
10:28  18      Q.  In particular, the knowledge of senior people such as 
10:28  19      Mr Chen, Mr Felstead and senior executives? 
10:28  20 
10:28  21      A.  Yes. 
10:28  22 
10:28  23      Q.  And it was a point that Crown resisted all the way along? 
10:28  24 
10:28  25      A.  Yes. 
10:28  26 
10:28  27      Q.  We'll go to the June meeting now, that you just mentioned. 
10:28  28      I will show you a note of a presentation you gave to the meeting. 
10:29  29      MEM.5000.0001.3375.  These redactions are for different 
10:29  30      categories of claim.  I think the green is for privilege.  There is 
10:29  31      mention there of the class action.  I didn't want to ask you any 
10:29  32      questions about that. 
10:29  33 
10:29  34      Operator, could we go to the next page. 
10:29  35 
10:29  36      This is the section where you presented on the VCGLR 
10:29  37      investigation.  Before we go through it, Mr Murphy, can you 
10:29  38      recall whether the directors were actually provided with the draft 
10:29  39      reports from the VCGLR and Minter's draft submissions in 
10:30  40      response? 
10:30  41 
10:30  42      A.  I believe they had the draft VCGLR report.  I'm not sure if 
10:30  43      they had our submissions.  I think they did, but I'm not sure if that 
10:30  44      was in the papers. 
10:30  45 
10:30  46      Q.  I see. 
10:30  47
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10:38   1      stages might involve was, I think, unclear and, indeed, to what 
10:38   2      extent this draft report that had been done at staff level within the 
10:38   3      VCGLR, to what extent that would be adopted at the formal 
10:38   4      Commissioner level within the VCGLR. 
10:38   5 
10:38   6      Q.  I see.  And do you recall what your instructions were after 
10:38   7      this meeting or around that time?  Was it to pursue the objectives 
10:39   8      you had mentioned? 
10:39   9 
10:39  10      A.  In general terms, yes.  I think at that stage the ball was in 
10:39  11      the VCGLR's court as to what its next step was going to be. 
10:39  12 
10:39  13      Q.  I see. 
10:39  14 
10:39  15      A.  So I think we were just awaiting its next steps. 
10:39  16 
10:39  17      Q.  So if the Board felt that they were in the VCGLR's hands, 
10:39  18      or the ball was in their court, was there any discussion at the 
10:39  19      board meeting or with any of the directors or senior executives 
10:39  20      around this time about trying to get the VCGLR to stop its 
10:39  21      investigation? 
10:39  22 
10:39  23      A.  Not that I was aware of, no. 
10:39  24 
10:39  25      Q.  I just want to take you to the response to the summary 
10:40  26      report again to note some of the themes if I might. 
10:40  27 
10:40  28      Operator, could you please call up VCG.0001.0001.8194.  This is 
10:40  29      actually just a pack of documents.  I want to go to page  _0005. 
10:40  30 
10:40  31      This seems to be Crown's response to the compliance division 
10:40  32      staff report in relation to the China investigation; do you see that 
10:40  33      in the first sentence, Mr Murphy? 
10:40  34 
10:40  35      A.  Yes. 
10:40  36 
10:40  37      Q.  If we could go over to the next page, please, operator.  You 
10:41  38      see under the heading "Scope and process", paragraph 4 the 
10:41  39      report purports to be a summary? 
10:41  40 
10:41  41      A.  Yes. 
10:41  42 
10:41  43      Q.  And Crown accepts that this is appropriate to: 
10:41  44 
10:41  45               ..... explain the basis for the recommendation to the 
10:41  46               VCGLR that the China episode does not affect Crown's 
10:41  47               suitability to hold its licence, and naturally Crown
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10:41   1               supports that recommendation. 
10:41   2 
10:41   3      In the next paragraph, I will give you an opportunity to read the 
10:41   4      scope and that's the where you make the point about procedural  
10:41   5      fairness. 
10:41   6 
10:41   7      A.  Yes. 
10:41   8 
10:41   9      Q.  And in the next paragraph, operator, paragraph 6, Crown is 
10:41  10      urging the VCGLR to bear in mind the Federal Court action. 
10:42  11      You see the final sentence: 
10:42  12 
10:42  13               The discipline of this process should not be undermined 
10:42  14               by a 'summary' regulatory process by the VCGLR. 
10:42  15 
10:42  16      A.  Yes. 
10:42  17 
10:42  18      Q.  The next heading, "Marketing by other casinos in China", 
10:42  19      can you look at paragraph 10, please.  This point is emphasising 
10:42  20      Crown's understanding of the relevant Chinese law at the time? 
10:42  21 
10:42  22      A.  Yes. 
10:42  23 
10:42  24      Q.  By the relevant Chinese law you are specifically focusing 
10:42  25      there, aren't you, on Article 303? 
10:42  26 
10:42  27      A.  Yes. 
10:42  28 
10:42  29      Q.  Over the page, heading before paragraph 12, "Corporate 
10:42  30      Governance Risk Management Approach", that being one of the 
10:42  31      themes that was relevant to the VCGLR and you were responding 
10:42  32      to that; correct? 
10:42  33 
10:43  34      A.  Yes. 
10:43  35 
10:43  36      Q.  Over the page, please, operator.  Scrolling down.  The 
10:43  37      heading "Chinese law" referenced to Article 303.  Next page, 
10:43  38      please, operator. 
10:43  39 
10:43  40      Q.  You see the heading "Change of environment in China 
10:43  41      regarding gambling on 2015"? 
10:43  42 
10:43  43      A.  Yes. 
10:43  44 
10:43  45      Q.  Can I draw your attention to paragraph 34, please. 
10:43  46 
10:43  47      A.  Yes.
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10:43   1 
10:43   2      Q.  Again this is responding to the theme that was of interest to 
10:43   3      the regulator of the increased or escalated risk environment, 
10:44   4      knowledge of the crackdown and awareness of Crown staff 
10:44   5      considering that they were at risk as a result of the crackdown? 
10:44   6 
10:44   7      A.  Yes, by reference to an internal Crown document.  I'm not 
10:44   8      exactly sure what that document was. 
10:44   9 
10:44  10      Q.  I can't assist you, I'm sorry.  The point is to emphasise those 
10:44  11      themes --- 
10:44  12 
10:44  13      A.  Yes. 
10:44  14 
10:44  15      Q.  --- to which Crown was responding. 
10:44  16 
10:44  17      A.  Yes. 
10:44  18 
10:44  19      Q.  Could we go to  _0011, please, operator. 
10:44  20 
10:44  21      You see there a response in paragraph 55: 
10:44  22 
10:44  23               Crown disputes that this questioning 'was clearly 
10:44  24               an escalating risk factor regarding Crown's approach in 
10:44  25               China'. 
10:44  26 
10:44  27      That was the interview with Mr Xiong in 2015. 
10:44  28 
10:45  29      A.  Yes. 
10:45  30 
10:45  31      Q.  And could we go to  _0013, please, operator.  Paragraph 
10:45  32      76, again responding to the various incidents constituting a risk to 
10:45  33      enforcement action and it not being accurately assessed, escalated 
10:45  34      or mitigated.  See that? 
10:45  35 
10:45  36      A.  Sorry, paragraph 76? 
10:45  37 
10:45  38      Q.  Yes, you are responding to the point about escalating risk 
10:45  39      not being mitigated, and you make the point about hindsight, or 
10:45  40      Crown makes the point about hindsight. 
10:45  41 
10:45  42      A.  Yes. 
10:45  43 
10:45  44      Q.  The meeting is on 20 June.  This letter is dated 26 June. 
10:46  45      The VCGLR hand down their Sixth Review report on 2 July 
10:46  46      2018. 
10:46  47
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10:46   1      A.  Right. 
10:46   2 
10:46   3      Q.  I take it that you read and you are familiar with the Sixth 
10:46   4      Review Report? 
10:46   5 
10:46   6      A.  Yes. 
10:46   7 
10:46   8      Q.  At this point you said that the Board felt that they were - 
10:46   9      the ball was in the VCGLR's court about the investigation and we 
10:46  10      see that by August 2018 the VCGLR are requesting further 
10:46  11      documents? 
10:46  12 
10:46  13      A.  Yes. 
10:46  14 
10:46  15      Q.  You can assume that for me for the moment, thank you. 
10:46  16 
10:46  17      A.  Yes. 
10:46  18 
10:46  19      Q.  On 21 September MinterEllison wrote to the regulator in 
10:46  20      relation to the ongoing investigation. 
10:46  21 
10:46  22      Operator, could you please call up VCG.0001.0002.3351. 
10:46  23 
10:47  24      Do you see this letter of 21 September 2018 to Mr Berriman of 
10:47  25      the VCGLR? 
10:47  26 
10:47  27      A.  Yes. 
10:47  28 
10:47  29      Q.  Under the first heading, "Further evidence and submissions”, 
10:47  30      the letter says: 
10:47  31 
10:47  32               Crown's primary submission is that the whole episode of 
10:47  33               the detention and conviction of Crown Group staff does 
10:47  34               not warrant any regulatory action. 
10:47  35 
10:47  36      Then you summarise the main points of the testimony witnesses; 
10:47  37      do you see that? 
10:47  38 
10:47  39      A.  Yes. 
10:47  40 
10:47  41      Q.  And again the themes about warnings, understanding of 
10:47  42      Crown staff operating within - or not in breach of Article 303 
10:47  43      and other points. 
10:47  44 
10:47  45      A.  Yes. 
10:47  46 
10:47  47      Q.  Operator, could we go to the next page.  You see under
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10:48   1      paragraph 7, Mr Murphy, the letter says: 
10:48   2 
10:48   3               In the circumstances, Crown respectfully submits that it is 
10:48   4               appropriate in all the circumstance for the VCGLR to 
10:48   5               close its investigation on the basis that no disciplinary or 
10:48   6               other action is warranted. 
10:48   7 
10:48   8      A.  Yes. 
10:48   9 
10:48  10      Q.  So I take it it was Crown's instructions to you to write to the 
10:48  11      VCGLR and suggest that it close its investigation? 
10:48  12 
10:48  13      A.  Yes. 
10:48  14 
10:48  15      Q.  From whom did you obtain those instructions? 
10:48  16 
10:48  17      A.  Well, my instructions in relation to the final form of this 
10:48  18      letter would have been from Joshua Preston. 
10:48  19 
10:48  20      Q.  To your knowledge, was the Board aware that these were 
10:48  21      your instructions at this point in time? 
10:48  22 
10:48  23      A.  No, I'm not sure. 
10:48  24 
10:48  25      Q.  Did you regard the VCGLR as being in a position to close 
10:48  26      its investigation at this time? 
10:49  27 
10:49  28      A.  Me personally? 
10:49  29 
10:49  30      Q.  Yes. 
10:49  31 
10:49  32      A.  Yes. 
10:49  33 
10:49  34      Q.  We just saw a letter a moment ago about the investigation 
10:49  35      being at a point which you called "a summary process", where 
10:49  36      effectively the submission that was being made is that not enough 
10:49  37      information had been obtained and the investigation hadn't been 
10:49  38      thorough enough; you agree with that? 
10:49  39 
10:49  40      A.  I was making the submission that if regulatory 
10:49  41      consequences were going to be visited on Crown then not 
10:49  42      sufficient (inaudible) had been done.  But that the VCGLR could 
conclude on 
10:49  43      the basis of their investigations to date, and the evidence that they 
10:49  44      have - had, that it didn't go to suitability and that disciplinary 
10:50  45      action wasn't warranted and, therefore, the investigation could be 
10:50  46      closed. 
10:50  47
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10:54   1      A.  I'm not sure --- sorry, not the former --- 
10:54   2 
10:54   3      COMMISSIONER:  I mean the arrested staff. 
10:54   4 
10:54   5      A.  The detained staff, no. 
10:54   6 
10:54   7      COMMISSIONER:  And had you entered into arrangements with 
10:54   8      them, paying compensation and getting them to sign settlement 
10:54   9      agreements by this time? 
10:54  10 
10:54  11      A.  Crown had, yes. 
10:54  12 
10:54  13      COMMISSIONER:  I meant Crown, not you, of course. 
10:54  14 
10:54  15      A.  Yes. 
10:54  16 
10:54  17      COMMISSIONER:  But you were involved in drafting the 
10:54  18      settlement agreements? 
10:54  19 
10:54  20      A.  Had some input into the drafting, yes. 
10:54  21 
10:54  22      COMMISSIONER:  Which contained confidentiality clauses? 
10:54  23 
10:54  24      A.  Yes. 
10:54  25 
10:55  26      COMMISSIONER:  And who were the staff meant to keep their 
10:55  27      story confidential from?  They were arrested, spent time in prison 
10:55  28      and weren't allowed to tell anybody about it.  Who didn't you, or 
10:55  29      who didn't Crown want to find out what the story was from their 
10:55  30      former employees?  Do you know that? 
10:55  31 
10:55  32      A.  No, I don't know that -- 
10:55  33 
10:55  34      COMMISSIONER:  Can you guess? 
10:55  35 
10:55  36      A.  --- Commissioner, they were standard provisions in --- 
10:55  37 
10:55  38      COMMISSIONER:  In what? 
10:55  39 
10:55  40      A.  --- in the form of separation deed that was used. 
10:55  41 
10:55  42      COMMISSIONER:  I assume there is a standard arrangement 
10:55  43      that is entered into with arrested employees, imprisoned 
10:55  44      employees.  Accepting that - I doubt it, but just accepting it to be 
10:55  45      true for a minute, at any stage did you tell the regulator that you 
10:56  46      would cooperate with the regulator and enable them to interview 
10:56  47      the staff, the arrested staff, so they could get a complete picture of
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10:56   1      what was happening?  Did you volunteer it? 
10:56   2 
10:56   3      A.  I'm not aware of that being volunteered, Commissioner, no. 
10:56   4 
10:56   5      COMMISSIONER:  Did you tell Crown they should volunteer 
10:56   6      that information, or the availability of that information to the 
10:56   7      regulator?  Ie, did you say to Crown "this is what you should do"? 
10:56   8 
10:56   9      A.  No, I didn't, Commissioner. 
10:56  10 
10:56  11      COMMISSIONER:  Why not? 
10:56  12 
10:56  13      A.  There wasn't a context in which I was asked for that advice. 
10:56  14 
10:56  15      COMMISSIONER:  I'm not suggesting you were asked  for the advice. 
10:56  16      You were their lawyers.  You had been their main lawyer for 
10:56  17      years.  And in the cooperation that you spoke about a minute ago, 
10:56  18      why wouldn't you tell your client that, "it is your responsibility, or 
10:57  19      your duty, or you should, as a licensed casino operator, inform the 
10:57  20      regulator of everything - all information in your possession at 
10:57  21      this time"?  Why didn't you tell your client to do that? 
10:57  22 
10:57  23      A.  That wasn't my advice. 
10:57  24 
10:57  25      COMMISSIONER:  My question is why didn't you advise that? 
10:57  26 
10:57  27      A.  That's not what I personally considered to be in the 
10:57  28      company's interests. 
10:57  29 
10:57  30      COMMISSIONER:  Do you consider it to be the company's 
10:57  31      obligation to be forthright in its dealings with the regulator? 
10:57  32 
10:57  33      A.  Yes. 
10:57  34 
10:57  35      COMMISSIONER:  And being forthright would be informing the 
10:57  36      regulator everything relevant so that the regulator could carry out 
10:57  37      its functions, in this case an investigation, as fully and efficiently 
10:57  38      as is possible?  But it's not in your client's interest to help? 
10:58  39 
10:58  40      A.  It is certainly in our client's interests to cooperate with 
10:58  41      a regulatory investigation. 
10:58  42 
10:58  43      COMMISSIONER:  If it is not in this client's interests to 
10:58  44      cooperate really fully, then you wouldn't advise it to be as 
10:58  45      cooperative as it otherwise might be? 
10:58  46 
10:58  47      A.  I wouldn't say that would be my advice.
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10:58   1 
10:58   2      COMMISSIONER:  Back to my question, why didn't you tell 
10:58   3      them, for example, "I have lots of interviews with the Chinese 
10:58   4      staff, I can tell you exactly what they said, here are my solicitor's 
10:58   5      notes"?  Why didn't you tell them that? 
10:58   6 
10:58   7      A.  I didn't have that, Commissioner.  We were at no stage able 
10:58   8      to interview the detained staff. 
10:58   9 
10:58  10      COMMISSIONER:  I thought you interviewed them --- oh, you 
10:58  11      interviewed some of the people operating in China. 
10:58  12 
10:58  13      A.  Correct, yes. 
10:58  14 
10:58  15      COMMISSIONER:  And did you offer that information to the 
10:58  16      regulator? 
10:59  17 
10:59  18      A.  No. 
10:59  19 
10:59  20      COMMISSIONER:  Why not? 
10:59  21 
10:59  22      A.  Because the regulator itself wanted to and did interview 
10:59  23      Mr Chen and asked him all they wanted to ask him about the 
10:59  24      matters of interest to them. 
10:59  25 
10:59  26      COMMISSIONER:  You had information that you gathered on 
10:59  27      behalf of Crown relating directly to the incidents that the 
10:59  28      regulator was investigating.  Why did you not offer that - sorry, 
10:59  29      you don't have to offer anything, why didn't you tell your client to 
10:59  30      offer whatever information it had to the regulator? 
10:59  31 
10:59  32      A.  Well, my thinking, Commissioner, was that it was 
10:59  33      appropriate for Crown to --- 
10:59  34 
10:59  35      COMMISSIONER:  Push back? 
10:59  36 
10:59  37      A.  ---  no, well, I would say cooperate fully in relation to the 
10:59  38      regulator's inquiry.  The regulator would determine what was of 
11:00  39      interest to it, and what it wanted to know about, and how --- 
11:00  40 
11:00  41      COMMISSIONER:  You know it doesn't work like that.  The 
11:00  42      regulator doesn't know what it doesn't know, and at this stage you 
11:00  43      knew a lot more than the regulator.  I'm trying to work out why 
11:00  44      you didn't, or why Crown didn't offer full cooperation with the 
11:00  45      regulator, including telling the regulator what it didn't know. 
11:00  46 
11:00  47      A.  I'm - I'm ---
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11:02   1 
11:02   2      We'll take a break for 15 minutes.  I will adjourn. 
11:02   3 
11:02   4 
11:02   5      ADJOURNED [11.02 AM] 
11:18   6 
11:18   7 
11:18   8      RESUMED [11:18A.M.] 
11:18   9 
11:18  10 
11:18  11      MS NESKOVCIN:  Thank you, Mr Murphy.  I want to deal next 
11:18  12      with a presentation you gave to the CRL board in 
11:18  13      December 2018. 
11:18  14 
11:18  15      Operator, could you please call up MEM.5000.0002.2978.  If we 
11:19  16      just focus on the end of the page, headed "VCGLR investigation" 
11:19  17      and note what is there, Mr Murphy. 
11:19  18 
11:19  19      A.  Yes. 
11:19  20 
11:19  21      Q.  Over the page, please, operator.  It seems like you are 
11:19  22      giving the board an update on progress.  See the first dot point 
11:19  23      says: 
11:19  24 
11:19  25               - We responded by the VCGLR's deadline of last 
11:19  26               Wednesday, 5 December. 
11:19  27 
11:19  28               - We were invited to comment on the note of the VCGLR's 
11:19  29               discussion with the Asian casino executive and we did, 
11:19  30               pointing out [what is set out there] ..... 
11:19  31 
11:19  32      Operator, can you go to the end of the page. 
11:19  33 
11:19  34      You see the last dot point, instead of arrow points?  You mention 
11:20  35      that the response to the VCGLR's letter also stressed the matters 
11:20  36      set out in those arrow points? 
11:20  37 
11:20  38      A.  "Our response also stressed"? 
11:20  39 
11:20  40      Q.  Yes. 
11:20  41 
11:20  42      And over the page, please, operator. 
11:20  43 
11:20  44      Make a note, please, Mr Murphy, of the other arrow points on 
11:20  45      that page. 
11:20  46 
11:20  47      A.  Yes.
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11:23   1      ledger?  The VCGLR has put forward its investigation summary 
11:23   2      at that point, you have told the Board about things you have said 
11:23   3      in response to contradict the VCGLR, but were you telling the 
11:23   4      Board that there is something in this point, or there is something 
11:23   5      in that point?  Did they see both sides? 
11:24   6 
11:24   7      A.  Well, I mean, the notes accurately record what the content 
11:24   8      of my presentation was.  There were, at each of these Board 
11:24   9      meetings after my presentation, some discussion about the 
11:24  10     matters.  I think you are asking me were we advised the Board, 
11:24  11      you know, in some detail about the liability issues, and the 
11:24  12      answer is no.  These were high level presentations to the Board to 
11:25  13      give them the general picture of what was going on and where 
11:25  14      things were at. 
11:25  15 
11:25  16      Q.  Thank you.  I'm going to move forward now to the middle 
11:25  17      of June 2019 but you, just by way of context, you will recall that 
11:25  18      in March 2019 MinterEllison gave the insurers in respect of the 
11:25  19      class action a detailed memorandum of advice on prospects; do 
11:25  20      you recall that? 
11:25  21 
11:25  22      A.  Yes. 
11:25  23 
11:25  24      Q.  That is just by way of context. 
11:25  25 
11:25  26      A.  Yes. 
11:25  27 
11:25  28      Q.  We will come back to that a bit later, but relevantly, the 
11:25  29      investigatory work that you were doing in preparing the defence 
11:25  30      is well-developed; you would agree with that?  You have spoken 
11:25  31      to people, you have been looking at documents? 
11:25  32 
11:25  33      A.  Yes.  I mean, I wasn't involved in the day-to-day 
11:25  34      preparation for the class action.  I wasn't doing the detailed work 
11:26  35      but, you know, I was generally across what was going on. 
11:26  36 
11:26  37      Q.  That advice in March 2019, which we'll come to, were you 
11:26  38      one of the partners that signed off on that advice or was that 
11:26  39      someone else? 
11:26  40 
11:26  41      A.  No, that would have been another partner. 
11:26  42 
11:26  43      Q.  June 2019, you will recall that the regulator had continued 
11:26  44      its investigation, requesting documents, it was complaining about 
11:26  45      some delays in production.  You'd made the point that documents 
11:26  46      were being produced in conjunction with the timetable for 
11:26  47      discovery in the class action and that that was voluminous.
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11:29   1 
11:29   2      A.  Yes. 
11:29   3 
11:29   4      Q.  It raised concerns about a failure to appreciate those 
11:29   5      warning signs? 
11:29   6 
11:29   7      A.  Yes. 
11:29   8 
11:29   9      Q.  It raised concerns about a failure to escalate the risk to 
11:29  10      senior management? 
11:29  11 
11:29  12      A.  Yes. 
11:29  13 
11:29  14      Q.  And to the board of CRL? 
11:29  15 
11:29  16      A.  Yes. 
11:29  17 
11:29  18      Q.  And it raised concerns about how the matters were 
11:29  19      managed and other risk management issues? 
11:29  20 
11:29  21      A.  Yes. 
11:29  22 
11:29  23      Q.  It was a 100-page report, went into quite a bit of detail? 
11:29  24 
11:29  25      A.  Was it 100 pages?  I thought it was 80-something pages, 
11:29  26      something of that order, yes. 
11:29  27 
11:29  28      Q.  I might have been counting the index. 
11:29  29 
11:29  30      A.  Yes, it was extensive. 
11:29  31 
11:29  32      Q.  You would agree that on a first read of the - or any read of 
11:29  33      the report, it is concerning? 
11:29  34 
11:30  35      A.  Yes. 
11:30  36 
11:30  37      Q.  If you look at the fourth dot point on this note you say: 
11:30  38 
11:30  39               In relation to the second letter and the draft report, which 
11:30  40               I understand has been circulated to the directors ..... 
11:30  41 
11:30  42      The directors, to your knowledge, had this draft report prior to the 
11:30  43      meeting? 
11:30  44 
11:30  45      A.  Yes. 
11:30  46 
11:30  47      Q.  And did you get a sense from discussions and questions
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11:30   1      that occurred at the meeting that the directors had read the report? 
11:30   2 
11:30   3      A.  Yes. 
11:30   4 
11:30   5      Q.  Can you assume from me that Ms Coonan, Ms Halton and 
11:30   6      Ms Korsanos were present during this meeting? 
11:30   7 
11:30   8      A.  Yes, all right. 
11:30   9 
11:30  10      Q.  Do you have a recollection of that? 
11:30  11 
11:30  12      A.  I'm not sure about Ms Korsanos, but I remember 
11:30  13      Ms Coonan being there.  And I remember Geoff Dixon being 
11:30  14      there, he was the one who was most vocal. 
11:30  15 
11:30  16      Q.  We will get to that in a moment, but I've checked the 
11:30  17      minutes and just assume that that was the case, please. 
11:30  18 
11:30  19      A.  Okay. 
11:30  20 
11:31  21      Q.  After your presentation - I assume you went through the 
11:31  22      points in this note again?  Would you like to go through them? 
11:31  23 
11:31  24      A.  So I did my presentation to the Board in accordance with 
11:31  25      the notes, and then there was a general discussion after that. 
11:31  26 
11:31  27      Q.  I want to ask you about what was discussed. 
11:31  28 
11:31  29      A.  Yes. 
11:31  30 
11:31  31      Q.  Who said what in relation to the draft report?  What can 
11:31  32      you recall? 
11:31  33 
11:31  34      A.  So - well, my strongest recollection is of Mr Dixon saying 
11:31  35      that the report was of significant concern to him as the Chair of 
11:31  36      the Risk Committee, and that if the Commission itself was 
11:32  37      ultimately to be making conclusions that were in line with what 
11:32  38      the draft report said then that would be a major concern for the 
11:32  39      company and would reflect very poorly on the company. 
11:32  40 
11:32  41      Q.  Anything else? 
11:32  42 
11:32  43      A.  I remember Ms Coonan contributed to the discussion as 
11:32  44      well, and I think she echoed similar concerns.  It is likely 
11:33  45      Mr Mitchell did as well. 
11:33  46 
11:33  47      COMMISSIONER:  What was said about fixing the position
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11:33   1      rather than avoiding a bad report? 
11:33   2 
11:33   3      A.  I'm not sure I recall that specifically, Commissioner. 
11:33   4      I think Mr Dixon made a comment along the lines of "these 
11:33   5      matters will need to be considered by the Risk Management 
11:33   6      Committee for future learnings". 
11:34   7 
11:34   8      COMMISSIONER:  (Inaudible) from a bad final report? 
11:34   9 
11:34  10      A.  No, that wasn't.  That was on the basis of reading this 
11:34  11      lengthy report about the subject matter. 
11:34  12 
11:34  13      COMMISSIONER:  Did you ever find out what, if anything, they 
11:34  14      did? 
11:34  15 
11:34  16      A.  What, if anything .....? 
11:34  17 
11:34  18      COMMISSIONER:  The company did? 
11:34  19 
11:34  20      A.  In terms of risk management processes? 
11:34  21 
11:34  22      COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 
11:34  23 
11:34  24      A.  I think it was around about this time that Ms Siegers was 
11:34  25      recruited.  I might not be right about the date but I think it was 
11:34  26      around about this time.  And there was a recognition that the risk 
11:34  27      management function needed to be upgraded and hence 
11:34  28      Ms Siegers was appointed, and that she embarked upon a process 
11:34  29      of significantly upgrading the risk framework and processes. 
11:35  30 
11:35  31      MS NESKOVCIN:  Was anything said that made you realise that 
11:35  32      the directors recognised that some of the report raised suitability 
11:35  33      issues? 
11:35  34 
11:35  35      A.  The word "suitability" I don't think was used during the 
11:35  36      course of the discussion, at least not that I recall. 
11:35  37 
11:35  38      Q.  So you don't recall up to this point either any concern being 
11:35  39      raised by any members of the board as to whether or not there 
11:35  40      were issues being uncovered by the regulator that were relevant 
11:35  41      to suitability? 
11:35  42 
11:35  43      A.  I think by this stage, can you remind me, we were talking 
11:36  44      about December --- 
11:36  45 
11:36  46      Q.  June 2019? 
11:36  47
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11:38   1      evidence were prepared then. 
11:38   2 
11:38   3      Q.  But you said that "we" were doing all those things.  That's 
11:38   4      my point, that is Crown doing those things, not in conjunction 
11:39   5      with the regulator.  And when I say "working cooperatively", I 
11:39   6      don't mean not being obstructive, I mean, as the Commissioner 
11:39   7      suggested prior to the break, assisting them with what you knew, 
11:39   8      what Crown knew had gone on.  Was that ever part of the 
11:39   9      discussion with the board after your presentations or at any other 
11:39  10     time? 
11:39  11 
11:39  12      A.  Not in that way, no. 
11:39  13 
11:39  14      Q.  You weren't ever instructed to be obstructive; correct? 
11:39  15 
11:39  16      A.  No. 
11:39  17 
11:39  18      Q.  And you were complying --- 
11:39  19 
11:39  20      COMMISSIONER:  You were instructed to push back?  It's the 
11:39  21      nicer way of saying "be obstructive". 
11:39  22 
11:39  23      A.  No, I wouldn't accept that, Commissioner.  We were 
11:39  24      pushing back in argument and we were making submissions 
11:39  25      about how the VCGLR should regard the events, and what 
11:39  26      consequences should flow from the facts and their investigation. 
11:40  27      So pushing back in that sense, not pushing back in terms of being 
11:40  28      obstructionist about the provision of documents or evidence or 
11:40  29      responses to notices.  It was in the making of submissions. 
11:40  30 
11:40  31      MS NESKOVCIN:  And is your view that Crown was complying 
11:40  32      with its obligations in relation to the regulator? 
11:40  33 
11:40  34      A.  Yes. 
11:40  35 
11:40  36      Q.  But, as the Commissioner said before the break, the 
11:40  37      regulator didn't know what it didn't know. 
11:40  38 
11:40  39      A.  Nor did we. 
11:40  40 
11:40  41      Q.  But you knew more than the regulator? 
11:40  42 
11:40  43      A.  Did we?  I'm not sure we did. 
11:40  44 
11:40  45      Q.  We'll come to that --- 
11:40  46 
11:40  47      A.  In terms of the key facts.
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11:59   1      Commission in February this year? 
11:59   2 
11:59   3      A.  Yes. 
11:59   4 
11:59   5      Q.  You certainly get a sense from that report of frustration and 
11:59   6      disappointment in terms of how the regulator feels it was dealt 
11:59   7      with during the process? 
11:59   8 
11:59   9      A.  Yes. 
11:59  10 
11:59  11      Q.  It points to issues of delays, what it perceives to be delays, 
11:59  12      it describes the correspondence as belligerent? 
11:59  13 
11:59  14      A.  Yes, it does. 
11:59  15 
11:59  16      Q.  I assume that you would take issue with that? 
11:59  17 
11:59  18      A.  Yes, I would. 
11:59  19 
11:59  20      Q.  But what would be your reflections on what might have 
11:59  21      contributed to its impression? 
12:00  22 
12:00  23      A.  So I think there was - I think the particular frustration at 
12:00  24      the VCGLR compliance staff level was the fact that some 
12:00  25      documents took considerable time to emerge and only emerged as 
12:00  26      a result of the discovery process in the class action.  They made 
12:00  27      the decision to interview the staff, sorry, interview all the people 
12:00  28      they wanted to interview at a reasonably early stage, and probably 
12:00  29      felt in retrospect that if they had waited until they had more 
12:00  30      documents, then there might have been more matters that they 
12:00  31      could have put to those witnesses.  So I think that is probably 
12:01  32      what fed into their feelings about the way the investigation 
12:01  33      progressed.  But certainly all our dealings with them were 
12:01  34      positive and cordial.  In fact, I would say good humoured. 
12:01  35 
12:01  36      COMMISSIONER:  Apart from the good humour, isn't it fair to 
12:01  37      say, just reading the report, that one of the key things that upset 
12:01  38      the regulator was lack of candour?  That is, you wouldn't - 
12:01  39      Crown wouldn't make admissions to the regulator, but, when 
12:01  40      confronted with harder evidence and a tougher environment, 
12:01  41      made admissions to the Bergin Inquiry.  In other words, they 
12:01  42      thought you - not you, but Crown was double dealing? 
12:02  43      (Inaudible). 
12:02  44 
12:02  45      A.  Yes, and to my mind, Commissioner, that is not a fair 
12:02  46      criticism because it was not put to Crown to make admissions in 
12:02  47      relation to matters until such time as it was.  And when it was,
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12:02   1      those concessions were made in appropriate form. 
12:02   2 
12:02   3      COMMISSIONER:  Not to the regulator?  Made to Bergin and 
12:02   4      then the regulator after the game was up. 
12:02   5 
12:02   6      A.  But there was no request from the regulator prior to that to 
12:02   7      make concessions about particular matters. 
12:02   8 
12:02   9      COMMISSIONER:  This goes back to the earlier discussion we 
12:02  10      had about whether a regulated entity like Crown, which has - 
12:02  11      which gives its life to being appropriately - gives its life to 
12:03  12      conducting itself appropriately, maybe should have been a bit 
12:03  13      more forthcoming rather than the "push back" approach or rather 
12:03  14      than "I'll answer the question if you ask it, but if you don't ask it, I 
12:03  15      tell you nothing". 
12:03  16 
12:03  17      A.  Commissioner, I don't think that latter description is a fair 
12:03  18      description of the way Crown was responding to the VCGLR's 
12:03  19      inquiry.  I think the criticisms about essentially not having full 
12:03  20      candour related to answers that were given by witnesses in their 
12:03  21      interviews, which later, when confronted with other evidence, 
12:03  22      transpired to be --- 
12:03  23 
12:03  24      COMMISSIONER:  False. 
12:03  25 
12:04  26      A.  Well, transpired to be not correct.  In other words, people 
12:04  27      had thought they had an understanding previously about certain 
12:04  28      events when they were subsequently shown an email that said 
12:04  29      actually you were shown this article at the time, they say, "okay, 
12:04  30      all right if I was shown that article at the time, then I must have 
12:04  31      known about it, but if you ask me beforehand without the benefit 
12:04  32      of that email, I give an honest answer to say no I don't."  So that 
12:04  33      is my understanding of the answers given in witness interviews 
12:04  34      that the VCGLR criticises. 
12:04  35 
12:04  36      MS NESKOVCIN:  I'm sorry to traverse similar matters but what 
12:04  37      I was about to put to you was I asked you what you'd attributed 
12:04  38      some of the comments to in the final report, and you mentioned 
12:05  39      a couple of things.  What you didn't mention was the point that 
12:05  40      the Commissioner made, which was the regulator was 
12:05  41      disappointed that information was not produced to it which came 
12:05  42      out in the Bergin Inquiry which subsequently informed its 
12:05  43      analysis and conclusions.  You recognise that as a grievance that 
12:05  44      the VCGLR raised in the final report? 
12:05  45 
12:05  46      A.  Do they?  I'm not sure - I'm not sure about that and I'm 
12:05  47      not sure what they are actually saying is the evidence that
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12:05   1      emerged that they didn't otherwise have. 
12:05   2 
12:05   3      Q.  Emails in 2013 from Michael Chen talking about risks and 
12:05   4      fear of safety. 
12:05   5 
12:05   6      A.  Right.  Did the VCGLR not have those? 
12:05   7 
12:05   8      Q.  Well, we can go - we would - we don't have the time 
12:06   9      today to go through that.  The report will evidence what they say 
12:06  10     they had and didn't have.  I just want to explore with you, 
12:06  11      Mr Murphy, the evidence you just gave about your perception of 
12:06  12      their grievance, and I was suggesting to you that another aspect of 
12:06  13      their grievance was the fact that information came to light in the 
12:06  14      Bergin Inquiry which hadn't come to light earlier.  Please assume 
12:06  15      that is the case --- 
12:06  16 
12:06  17      A.  Okay. 
12:06  18 
12:06  19      Q.  --- in relation to some things -- 
12:06  20 
12:06  21      A.  Yes. 
12:06  22 
12:06  23      Q.  --- but the point really is, they didn't know what they didn't 
12:06  24      know, and what I've been trying to explore with you today is 
12:06  25      whether or not Crown at any point said, "shouldn't we be telling 
12:06  26      the regulator in Victoria everything that we know?" 
12:06  27 
12:06  28      A.  Well, I believe everything we know about the evidence that 
12:07  29      is relevant to the VCGLR inquiry, so as we acquired --- as we 
12:07  30      uncovered other documents through the discovery process in the 
12:07  31      class action, to the extent that they seemed to bear upon or were 
12:07  32      within the categories of documents that the VCGLR had 
12:07  33      requested, then they were produced. 
12:07  34 
12:07  35      Q.  Produced? 
12:07  36 
12:07  37      A.  Yes. 
12:07  38 
12:07  39      Q.  But there was other information, wasn't there, that you were 
12:07  40      getting from speaking --- you, Minters and Crown were getting 
12:07  41      from speaking with individuals that would have been relevant to the 
12:07  42      VCGLR's investigation; do you agree with that? 
12:07  43 
12:07  44      A.  No, I don't think so. 
12:07  45 
12:07  46      Q.  I will take you to a couple of things and see if you agree 
12:07  47      that would have been relevant.  And the second point that I
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12:07   1      wanted to make was that - I've just forgotten it. 
12:08   2 
12:08   3      COMMISSIONER:  I will ask, probably a different point though. 
12:08   4 
12:08   5      The very strong impression I get from you, Mr Murphy, is that 
12:08   6      Crown's attitude was this, "if we are required by some notice or 
12:08   7      some legal obligation to provide information we will do that to 
12:08   8      the extent that we can, but we will volunteer nothing."  And you 
12:08   9      understand the difference between the two? 
12:08  10 
12:08  11      A.  Yes, I do.  I can't say that I was privy to a discussion in 
12:08  12      those terms, Commissioner. 
12:08  13 
12:08  14      COMMISSIONER:  But what I describe is what happened 
12:08  15      throughout this whole inquiry.  "If we have to provide it, we will. 
12:08  16      We will volunteer zero." 
12:08  17 
12:08  18      A.  No, I don't think that's fair, Commissioner.  Most of - 
12:09  19      well, in fact, all of the VCGLR's production notices had expired 
12:09  20      by the time we were still volunteering production of documents. 
12:09  21 
12:09  22      COMMISSIONER:  If you hadn't complied with them, then you 
12:09  23      would be in breach, and you can't say, "we'll find the documents" 
12:09  24      two days afterwards.  Probably the better legal view is that if you 
12:09  25      don't comply with the notice and then you suddenly come up with 
12:09  26      a document which existed at the time the notice was served on 
12:09  27      you, you had to comply with it.  You can't just say "time has 
12:09  28      passed, bad luck." 
12:09  29 
12:09  30      A.  Well, far be it for me to debate that with you, 
12:09  31      Commissioner.  I --- 
12:09  32 
12:09  33      COMMISSIONER:  So the voluntary aspect of what they did was 
12:09  34      comply - provide documents covered by a notice but the notice 
12:09  35      had potentially expired because - and didn't cover the 
12:09  36      documents because they weren't found in time, but they were all 
12:09  37      documents that existed at the time of the service of the notice? 
12:10  38 
12:10  39      A.  Well, existed but not - but hadn't been retrieved, if you 
12:10  40      like. 
12:10  41 
12:10  42      COMMISSIONER:  I guess that. 
12:10  43 
12:10  44      A.  Yes. 
12:10  45 
12:10  46      MS NESKOVCIN:  I remembered my second point.  It was kind 
12:10  47      of related.
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12:10   1 
12:10   2      Mr Murphy, Crown is cooperating throughout this process -- 
12:10   3 
12:10   4      A.  Yes. 
12:10   5 
12:10   6      Q.  --- but it is only answering the narrow questions that the 
12:10   7      VCGLR is asking; do you agree with that? 
12:10   8 
12:10   9      A.  It is responding to the questions it's being asked by the 
12:10  10      VCGLR, yes. 
12:10  11 
12:10  12      Q.  And that is going to be my point.  Instead of just answering 
12:10  13      the narrow questions, there was more information that could have 
12:10  14      been relevant that Crown was not disclosing; do you agree with 
12:10  15      that? 
12:10  16 
12:10  17      A.  As a general proposition, no. 
12:10  18 
12:10  19      Q.  Okay, I will explore that a little. 
12:10  20 
12:10  21      A.  I will need to be taken to particular information. 
12:10  22 
12:11  23      Q.  And this is just to understand and to contrast what the 
12:11  24      VCGLR knew and was told, and what Crown knew.  For the 
12:11  25      purposes of exploring again, what were your instructions about 
12:11  26      information providing and assisting the regulator?  I want to go 
12:11  27      back to remind you what was said in May - I will remind you 
12:11  28      about what was said to the regulator in June 2018.  Could we 
12:11  29      please call up VCG.0001.0001.8194.  This is in response to the 
12:11  30      draft summary report in relation to the China arrests.  It is around 
12:11  31      the time - operator, it is page  _0005. 
12:11  32 
12:11  33      It is June 2018, at the time of the Sixth Review, matters in 
12:12  34      relation to the China investigations have been taken out and 
12:12  35      included in the summary report.  Over the page is some 
12:12  36      comments on the report, and I want to take you to paragraph 10, 
12:12  37      please, at the bottom of this page.  You see there what Crown is 
12:12  38      trying to emphasise about Crown's understanding of the relevant 
12:12  39      Chinese law at the time was Crown's understanding of Article 
12:12  40      303. 
12:12  41 
12:12  42      A.  Yes. 
12:12  43 
12:12  44      Q.  And that's only what Crown ever addressed, is what it 
12:12  45      understood Article 303 required or prohibited because that was 
12:12  46      what the detainees were charged under; correct? 
12:12  47
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12:18   1 
12:18   2      COMMISSIONER:  These people aren't making this thing up. 
12:18   3 
12:18   4      A.  I'm not suggesting they are, Commissioner. 
12:18   5 
12:18   6      COMMISSIONER:  I didn't mean it in that sense.  I mean in 
12:18   7      a sense they are trying to be as accurate and correct as is possible, 
12:18   8      having regard to the then state of knowledge? 
12:18   9 
12:18  10      A.  Yes. 
12:18  11 
12:18  12      MS NESKOVCIN:  But you agree that Crown has a duty of 
12:18  13      utmost good faith and candour with its insurer? 
12:18  14 
12:18  15      A.  Does the utmost good faith obligation extend to the 
12:18  16      handling of claims?  I'm not sure.  It certainly does in relation to 
12:18  17      the disclosure stage in insurance.  Whether it does in handling 
12:18  18      claims I think is a matter of debate.  There is no doubt 
12:18  19      a pre-eminent decision by his Honour about that, but in any event 
12:19  20      certainly I accept that there is an obligation to be accurate and 
12:19  21      fulsome in the advice to the insurers. 
12:19  22 
12:19  23      Q.  Thank you.  That is really my point.  I asked you at the start 
12:19  24      whether you accepted that Crown had an obligation to be open - 
12:19  25      sorry, that's not how I put it.  I think I asked you if you agreed 
12:19  26      whether it was important for Crown to have an open, honest and 
12:19  27      constructive relationship with the regulator --- 
12:19  28 
12:19  29      A.  Yes. 
12:19  30 
12:19  31      Q.  --- so I didn't say "obligation" --- 
12:19  32 
12:19  33      A.  Yes. 
12:19  34 
12:19  35      Q.  They should, I suggest to you, be operating in effectively 
12:19  36      the same way with the regulator as they are with the insurer. 
12:19  37 
12:20  38      A.  I'm not sure that I would go that far.  Yeah, the regulator is 
12:20  39      making inquiries which could potentially lead to visiting very 
12:20  40      significant consequences on the company.  The insurers are 
12:20  41      getting advice about what their risks are in relation to litigation 
12:20  42      and what they should do about them. 
12:20  43 
12:20  44      Q.  When you are advising the insurer, you would want to tell 
12:20  45      them the worst-case scenario and make sure they are aware of all 
12:20  46      the facts? 
12:20  47
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12:32   1      VCGLR on 22 January 2021. 
12:32   2 
12:32   3      A.  Yes. 
12:32   4 
12:32   5      Q.  Assume that to be the case.  And it was signed off by 
12:32   6      Ms Coonan.  Do you recall that? 
12:32   7 
12:32   8      A.  Yes. 
12:32   9 
12:32  10      Q.  Did you have any dealings with Ms Coonan in relation to 
12:32  11      finalisation of that letter? 
12:32  12 
12:32  13      A.  No. 
12:32  14 
12:32  15      Q.  Who did you obtain instructions from in relation to that 
12:32  16      letter? 
12:32  17 
12:32  18      A.  I personally didn't obtain instructions from anybody.  It was 
12:32  19      drafted by our counsel team off the back of extensive exposure to 
12:33  20      the issues in the ILGA Inquiry and the class action.  So I don't 
12:33  21      recall there actually being a requirement for instructions on 
12:33  22      factual matters. 
12:33  23 
12:33  24      Q.  What about the content?  Did you obtain instructions from 
12:33  25      Ms Coonan or somebody else? 
12:33  26 
12:33  27      A.  I didn't personally, no.  So the process was that various 
12:33  28      drafts were exchanged.  They may in fact at that stage have been 
12:33  29      passing between counsel and Ms Coonan, or if they were passing 
12:33  30      through us, it wasn't specifically me. 
12:33  31 
12:33  32      Q.  Right.  But you had some involvement in the process so 
12:34  33      you saw a draft or a final draft, or at least the final document? 
12:34  34 
12:34  35      A.  Yes, I did see it, yes. 
12:34  36 
12:34  37      Q.  Can I ask the operator to please go to page  _0005?  This is 
12:34  38      a proposition that the VCGLR is asking Crown to accept.  Do you 
12:34  39      want me to go back a page so that you can see that? 
12:34  40 
12:34  41      A.  No, that's okay.  I understand the context, yes. 
12:34  42 
12:34  43      Q.  If you could scroll down the page, please, operator, to 
12:34  44      paragraph 7b and the VCGLR says: 
12:34  45 
12:34  46               even if the position articulated at paragraph 65(c) of 
12:34  47               Crown's Submissions (namely that Crown rejects that
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12:35   1               management appreciated that there was a material risk 
12:35   2               that staff would be 'arrested and convicted for gambling 
12:35   3               crimes' ..... were accepted, it was nevertheless understood 
12:35   4               by Crown management that: 
12:35   5 
12:35   6               ..... 
12:35   7 
12:35   8               b.  the risk that Crown staff might be detained existed, 
12:35   9               regardless of any legal interpretation which might have 
12:35  10              been made or was available in respect of 'gambling 
12:35  11              crimes'. 
12:35  12 
12:35  13      In response to that, operator, could we have that on the left-hand 
12:35  14      side of the screen and call up VCG.0001.0002.3415.  There are 
12:36  15      two paragraph 7s, I'm struggling to find the right one.  Could you 
12:36  16      go to  _0013. 
12:36  17 
12:36  18      Crown's response to 7b was as set out in b on the screen in the 
12:36  19      right-hand side, Mr Murphy. 
12:36  20 
12:36  21               As to the proposition that Crown understood there was 
12:36  22               a risk that Crown staff might be detained existed, Crown 
12:36  23               management understood that a risk that Crown staff 
12:36  24               might be detained existed in the sense that the detention 
12:36  25               was something conceivably possible, as it is in any 
12:36  26               jurisdiction.  However, Crown management, while aware 
12:36  27               that questioning of staff was possible, particularly in 
12:37  28               relation to the activities of their customers, never 
12:37  29               understood that staff were at material risk of being 
12:37  30               subject to detention in respect of Crown's activities ..... 
12:37  31 
12:37  32      Do you see that? 
12:37  33 
12:37  34      A.  Yes, I do. 
12:37  35 
12:37  36      Q.  Do you see that there is a tension between what the 
12:37  37      regulator is being told in response to proposition 7b and what the 
12:37  38      insurer is being told in the advices from Minters and from Crown 
12:37  39      that I've taken you to? 
12:37  40 
12:37  41      A.  No, I don't. 
12:37  42 
12:37  43      Q.  Are you focusing on the reference to "material risk"? 
12:37  44 
12:37  45      A.  Yes, I am. 
12:37  46 
12:37  47      Q.  This is the point, Mr Murphy, Crown are focusing only on
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12:37   1      what the regulator is putting to them instead of being transparent 
12:37   2      about what it understood and what its staff understood about the 
12:37   3      risks; do you accept that? 
12:37   4 
12:38   5      A.  No, I don't accept that. 
12:38   6 
12:38   7      COMMISSIONER:  I'm more interested to know what is the 
12:38   8      difference between "clearly suggest risk of arrest" and "material 
12:38   9      risk of arrest".  There might be a difference, but it is not evident 
12:38  10      to me, when something "clearly suggests an event happening", to 
12:38  11      what extent is that different from there is a "material risk" of that 
12:38  12      event happening? 
12:38  13 
12:38  14      A.  I don't think, Commissioner, that anybody was saying that 
12:38  15      there was evidence that clearly suggested that Crown staff were 
12:38  16      going to get detained.  And nor do I think there was evidence --- 
12:38  17 
12:38  18      COMMISSIONER:  So this is a bit like the difference between 
12:38  19      the balance of probabilities and beyond a reasonable doubt? 
12:38  20 
12:38  21      A.  Well --- 
12:38  22 
12:38  23      COMMISSIONER:  That kind of thing? 
12:38  24 
12:38  25      A.  Well, I think it is important in this context, Commissioner. 
12:39  26      Did Crown - did Crown management people think that there 
12:39  27      was a material risk, a real risk, not a fanciful risk, but a material 
12:39  28      risk --- 
12:39  29 
12:39  30      COMMISSIONER:  (Inaudible) I don't know who regards the 
12:39  31      risk as material.  If somebody is writing to me saying, "if you 
12:39  32      don't see me again, pay my wages to my wife or my kids" or 
12:39  33      something like that, something serious is going on.  You can play 
12:39  34      with words, but there is a point where you can't do that anymore. 
12:39  35 
12:39  36      A.  I accept that, Commissioner.  But Michael Chen is 
12:39  37      a colourful fellow who expresses himself in all sorts of different 
12:39  38      ways in different contexts.  Did the senior Crown staff think there 
12:39  39      was a material risk of detentions in the country was the question. 
12:40  40 
12:40  41      COMMISSIONER:  Crown executives were warned not to go to 
12:40  42      China.  "Do not go"? 
12:40  43 
12:40  44      A.  They were warned at one point. 
12:40  45 
12:40  46      COMMISSIONER:  Not to go to China? 
12:40  47
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12:43   1 
12:43   2      A.  Yes, it was arguing that the framework was sound, but 
12:43   3      information hadn't been elevated in the way the framework 
12:43   4      contemplated. 
12:43   5 
12:43   6      Q.  But that concession only came in this document in January 
12:43   7      2021; correct? 
12:43   8 
12:43   9      A.  I don't know whether there was another context in which it 
12:43  10      was made. 
12:43  11 
12:43  12      Q.  To the Victorian regulator? 
12:43  13 
12:43  14      A.  No, I'm not aware of a request to make a concession along 
12:43  15      those lines. 
12:43  16 
12:43  17      Q.  But  Crown knew the regulator had an issue with the risk 
12:44  18      management frameworks; correct? 
12:44  19 
12:44  20      A.  Yes.  Yes. 
12:44  21 
12:44  22      Q.  And Crown's position was - it was a well-established 
12:44  23      framework? 
12:44  24 
12:44  25      A.  Yes. 
12:44  26 
12:44  27      Q.  It later conceded that the framework hadn't been activated, 
12:44  28      the risks hadn't been elevated; correct? 
12:44  29 
12:44  30      A.  Yes, it conceded that things hadn't been done in accordance 
12:44  31      with the framework, yes. 
12:44  32 
12:44  33      Q.  And at no stage prior to January 2021 did Crown volunteer 
12:44  34      that information to prevent the regulator having to worry itself 
12:44  35      about the framework, whether it was deficient, why it hadn't been 
12:44  36      activated; correct? 
12:44  37 
12:44  38      A.  Yes, there wasn't - I don't think there was another context 
12:44  39      in which the regulator asked Crown something in which that 
12:44  40      would have been a relevant concession to make. 
12:44  41 
12:44  42      Q.  So when I suggested to you that this was the first time this 
12:44  43      concession had been made, you said, Mr Murphy, that it was the 
12:45  44      first time it was sought --- 
12:45  45 
12:45  46      A.  Yes. 
12:45  47
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12:45   1      Q.  --- I accept that, but my point is, it is information that could 
12:45   2      have been volunteered to save a lot of work on the part of the 
12:45   3      regulator.  Was that something that Crown had some 
12:45   4      understanding of or appreciation of? 
12:45   5 
12:45   6      A.  No, I don't think so. 
12:45   7 
12:45   8      Q.  Again, it was only responding to the regulator's requests as 
12:45   9      and when required? 
12:45  10 
12:45  11      A.  Yes. 
12:45  12 
12:45  13      Q.  Now, have you read the VCGLR's decision in respect of the 
12:45  14      disciplinary action that was handed down in about April of this 
12:45  15      year? 
12:45  16 
12:45  17      A.  No. 
12:45  18 
12:45  19      Q.  I'm not sure if it's been published, but it certainly has been 
12:45  20      tendered in this Commission.  I want to take you to a paragraph 
12:46  21      or two. VCG.0001.0002.6984.  If we could please go to page 
12:46  22      _0067 and paragraph 265.  Just by way of context, Mr Murphy, 
12:46  23      but I'm not sure you were personally involved, but I think 
12:46  24      MinterEllison was.  You recall the show cause notice issued in 
12:46  25      October 2020 in relation to four junket operators? 
12:46  26 
12:46  27      A.  Yes. 
12:46  28 
12:46  29      Q.  And a number of submissions were made in late 2020 --- 
12:46  30 
12:46  31      A.  Yes. 
12:46  32 
12:46  33      Q.  --- and then there was a hearing on 22 January 2021? 
12:46  34 
12:46  35      A.  Yes, I'm aware of that. 
12:46  36 
12:46  37      Q.  At paragraph 265 the Commission notes: 
12:46  38 
12:47  39               They are however matters that the Commission considers 
12:47  40               it appropriate to formerly record as part of these 
12:47  41               confidential reasons, particularly having regard to the 
12:47  42               nature of the regulatory relationship that the Commission 
12:47  43               considers ought to exist between Crown and the 
12:47  44               Commission. 
12:47  45 
12:47  46               The first of these matters is that on 17 December 2020 the 
12:47  47               current chair of Crown's parent company, Crown Resorts
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12:47   1               Ltd, Ms Helen Coonan, and others met with the 
12:47   2               Commission and gave a presentation.  During that 
12:47   3               presentation, Ms Coonan expressed the desire of herself, 
12:47   4               Crown and Crown Resorts Ltd to work collaboratively 
12:47   5               with the Commission.  Among other things, Ms Coonan 
12:47   6               said: 
12:47   7 
12:47   8               "I think it is absolutely critical that we have lines of 
12:47   9               communication open and that as we negotiate what I 
12:47  10               would call perhaps some of our shortcomings we're able 
12:47  11               to work through them together so that we do get a good 
12:47  12               outcome." 
12:47  13 
12:47  14      And could we scroll down further, please, operator, 270: 
12:47  15 
12:48  16               The Commission considers it highly regrettable that, so 
12:48  17               soon after being given a presentation which included 
12:48  18               these specific statements from Ms Coonan and Mr Walsh, 
12:48  19               at the hearing before the Commission on 21 January 2021 
12:48  20               ..... Crown would take an approach that was so clearly at 
12:48  21               odds with the matters that had been expressed at the 
12:48  22               meeting on 17 December ..... 
12:48  23 
12:48  24      Did you know about the meeting on 17 December, Mr Murphy? 
12:48  25 
12:48  26      A.  No. 
12:48  27 
12:48  28      Q.  So I take it you didn't know that Ms Coonan said those 
12:48  29      things that are recorded in that decision? 
12:48  30 
12:48  31      A.  No. 
12:48  32 
12:48  33      Q.  So I take it you weren't in a position to dissuade her from 
12:48  34      signing off on a letter in the terms that she did on 22 January 
12:48  35      2021 in response to the VCGLR's request to accept a number of 
12:48  36      propositions? 
12:48  37 
12:48  38      A.  No. 
12:48  39 
12:48  40      MS NESKOVCIN:  Commissioner, is that a convenient time? 
12:49  41 
12:49  42      COMMISSIONER:  Yes, we will break until 1.30.  Everybody 
12:49  43      okay with 1.30?  Okay, adjourned till then. 
12:49  44 
12:49  45 
12:49  46      ADJOURNED [12:49P.M.] 
12:51  47
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            1 
            2      Q.  Did you ever do a presentation to the directors of Crown 
            3      Melbourne Ltd? 
            4 
            5      A.  No. 
            6 
            7      Q.  Did any of the directors of Crown Resorts Ltd raise with 
            8      you or in your presence a tension between resisting what was 
            9      being said by the VCGLR on the one hand and the assessment of 
           10      prospects in the class action? 
           11 
           12      A.  No. 
           13 
           14      Q.  Thank you, Mr Murphy. 
           15 
           16      I want to discuss with you the advice that was given, or that you 
           17      might have been involved in, concerning Crown's operations 
           18      overseas, starting back in late 2016, early 2017.  It was the case, 
           19      wasn't it, that after the China arrests Crown wanted to review its 
           20      overseas operations to mitigate the risk of detention in other 
           21      locations? 
           22 
           23      A.  Yes. 
           24 
           25      Q.  And you were involved in providing advice and assistance 
           26      in relation to that? 
           27 
           28      A.  Yes, I was. 
           29 
           30      Q.  It was described as a major workstream in which you 
           31      worked with other people at Crown.  Who were the other people 
           32      at Crown? 
           33 
           34      A.  Well, again, initially it would have been Debra Tegoni and 
           35      Michael Neilson, and perhaps on that limb, Jan Williamson. 
           36 
           37      Q.  Was that as far back as 2016, 2017? 
           38 
           39      A.  Yes. I think it started in 2017. 
           40 
           41      Q.  You presented to the Board on 22 February 2017 in relation 
           42      to the China arrests? 
           43 
           44      A.  Yes. 
           45 
           46      Q.  But there was also mention of this workstream in your 
           47      notes.  So we'll go back to that to refresh, please.
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13:39   1      other lawyers? 
13:39   2 
13:39   3      A.  I don't recall.  I think perhaps they had advice historically 
13:39   4      from other lawyers there.  Might have been Deakins or a firm 
13:39   5      associated with Deakins. 
13:39   6 
13:39   7      Q.  What about in Malaysia? 
13:39   8 
13:39   9      A.  I'm afraid my recollection of the Malaysian law firm names 
13:39  10      is not good. 
13:39  11 
13:39  12      Q.  No-one can criticise you there! 
13:39  13 
13:40  14      A.  And I'm afraid that is going to be the case for the other 
13:40  15      jurisdictions as well.  They are not Western names. 
13:40  16 
13:40  17      Q.  --- (speaking over) - advice strategic risk, do you 
13:40  18      remember from whom? 
13:40  19 
13:40  20      A.  Yes, there was a consultancy Hakluyt, and then 
13:40  21      subsequently FTI. 
13:40  22 
13:40  23      Q.  I see.  Thank you. 
13:40  24 
13:40  25      Do you recall the jurisdictions in which Crown had overseas 
13:40  26      offices? 
13:40  27 
13:40  28      A.  Yes.  This list is here. 
13:40  29 
13:40  30      Q.  Yes.  But I will also show you this document if I might, 
13:40  31      CRL.636.001.0630.  The list you were just looking at doesn't 
13:41  32      include New Zealand.  Do you see that? 
13:41  33 
13:41  34      A.  Yes. 
13:41  35 
13:41  36      Q.  And I want to show you this document. 
13:41  37      CRL.636.001.0630.  Do you see that is from Ms Tegoni to you? 
13:41  38 
13:41  39      A.  Yes. 
13:41  40 
13:41  41      Q.  International offices summary. 
13:41  42 
13:41  43      Operator, I want to go to the next page.  I'm not sure if it is 
13:41  44      a separate attachment.  CRL.636.001.0631.  Is that not coming 
13:41  45      up? 
13:41  46 
13:41  47      Mr Murphy, I will read out some offices and see if you agree with
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13:54   1 
13:54   2      Q.  Certainly.  And just going back a step, in terms of meetings 
13:54   3      with non-PRC customers to have gaming-related discussions, did 
13:54   4      you understand that that was something that was occurring in 
13:54   5      Hong Kong after the new operating model was adopted? 
13:54   6 
13:54   7      A.  Yes. 
13:54   8 
13:54   9      Q.  Let me try my luck on another document now.  That was 
13:54  10      February 2017.  So there was an entry there for Singapore and 
13:55  11      Malaysia which was inconsistent with what was ultimately 
13:55  12      adopted so I didn't take you to that.  I will just let you know what 
13:55  13      I perceived to be inconsistent.  In this document that we were just 
13:55  14      discussing, it talked about staff being based in Singapore and 
13:55  15      Malaysia.  And you understand that that was not the model that 
13:55  16      was adopted? 
13:55  17 
13:55  18      A.  Ultimately that's right, yes. 
13:55  19 
13:55  20      Q.  So I didn't take you to that. 
13:55  21 
13:55  22      A.  Yes. 
13:55  23 
13:55  24      Q.  That was February 2017.  Do you recall providing some 
13:55  25      advice in early March 2017 in relation to the various overseas 
13:55  26      jurisdictions? 
13:55  27 
13:55  28      A.  Not specifically.  You would need to take me to it. 
13:55  29 
13:55  30      Q.  To be fair, it's probably not your advice, it is a summary of 
13:55  31      other people's advice. 
13:55  32 
13:55  33      Operator, could we please go to MEM.5000.0003.2263. 
13:55  34 
13:57  35      So, Mr Murphy, do you recall giving this advice in early March 
13:57  36      2017?  I'm calling it an advice, but let's just call it a document? 
13:57  37 
13:57  38      A.  Not specifically, but I will accept that it is probably around 
13:57  39      that period. 
13:57  40 
13:57  41      Q.  Please do.  I don't think it has got a date on it but the 
13:57  42      attachment - it was forwarded under a cover email of 3 March 
13:58  43      2017. 
13:58  44 
13:58  45      A.  Yes. 
13:58  46 
13:58  47      Q.  This is headed "Draft - Proposed operating model for the
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14:13   1 
14:13   2      These are the minutes or the pack for December 2018 but it is 
14:14   3      setting out a history of what had occurred in relation to the VIP 
14:14   4      business in Australia and the note records that: 
14:14   5 
14:14   6               At its meeting on 27 April 2017, the Board noted that 
14:14   7               after consultation with individual members of the Risk 
14:14   8               Management Committee, management had implemented 
14:14   9               a restructure of the VIP business model for operations in 
14:14  10              Asia which, amongst other elements, involved: 
14:14  11 
14:14  12               - the establishment of a regional hub in Hong Kong; 
14:14  13 
14:14  14               - the closure of other Asian offices and the relocation of 
14:14  15               staff to Hong Kong; 
14:14  16 
14:14  17               - the development of detailed operating protocols, 
14:14  18               including periodic review of those protocols, and 
14:14  19               appropriate training; and 
14:14  20 
14:14  21               - the appointment of a dedicated Compliance Officer in 
14:14  22               Hong Kong. 
14:14  23 
14:14  24      That was consistent with your understanding of what occurred in 
14:14  25      April 2017, Mr Murphy? 
14:14  26 
14:14  27      A.  Yes. 
14:14  28 
14:14  29      Q.  You see the third dot point about the development of 
14:14  30      operating protocols.  Did you assist in developing any detailed 
14:15  31      operating protocols? 
14:15  32 
14:15  33      A.  Yes. 
14:15  34 
14:15  35      Q.  Can I show you this document to see if it is one you were 
14:15  36      involved in, please.  CRW.510.050.0420.  You see this is dated 
14:15  37      12 April 2017? 
14:15  38 
14:15  39      A.  Yes. 
14:15  40 
14:15  41      Q.  We'll pass through it slowly. 
14:15  42 
14:15  43      The next page, please, operator. 
14:15  44 
14:15  45      It is just a contents page.  Do you see that? 
14:15  46 
14:15  47      A.  Yes.
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14:15   1 
14:15   2      Q.  The next page, please, operator.  The overview page.  Can 
14:15   3      we go to 0424, please, operator. 
14:15   4 
14:16   5               Main points to remember: 
14:16   6 
14:16   7               - Travel on the PRC ..... is prohibited. 
14:16   8               - outbound sales, marketing activities or initiating contact 
14:16   9               with PRC customers is prohibited. 
14:16  10 
14:16  11      And so on. 
14:16  12 
14:16  13      A.  Yes. 
14:16  14 
14:16  15      Q.  Now, I want to take you to permissible activities for the 
14:16  16      various locations in Asia.  Operator, could we go to 0426 of that 
14:16  17      document.  These are: 
14:16  18 
14:16  19               Outbound sales contact with customers and potential 
14:16  20               customers except any PRC Customers can occur in 
14:16  21               accordance with the following timetable. 
14:16  22 
14:16  23      Australia gets a tick on everything.  Ignore the UK, please, 
14:16  24      Mr Murphy.  For Hong Kong, as I read that document, everything 
14:16  25      there is permitted except for travel arrangements; do you see that? 
14:16  26 
14:17  27      A.  Yes. 
14:17  28 
14:17  29      Q.  And then for any other location in Asia, the only things that 
14:17  30      are permitted are outbound calls in relation to Crown facilities 
14:17  31      and events being non-gaming and travel preferences; is that 
14:17  32      correct? 
14:17  33 
14:17  34      A.  Yes. 
14:17  35 
14:17  36      Q.  Can we go to the next screen, please, operator. 
14:17  37 
14:17  38      This is outbound marketing contact.  You will see again that 
14:17  39      everything there is permitted in Hong Kong, but when we look at 
14:17  40      other locations in Asia, the only thing that is permitted is 
14:17  41      non-gaming marketing; do you see that? 
14:17  42 
14:17  43      A.  Yes. 
14:17  44 
14:17  45      Q.  The next page, please, operator, is on inbound calls.  The 
14:18  46      same points apply in relation to inbound as to outbound, in Hong 
14:18  47      Kong everything is okay except travel?

CRW.512.261.0100



 

CASINO OPERATOR AND LICENCE ROYAL COMMISSION 29.06.2021 
P-2854 

 
14:18   1 
14:18   2      A.  Yes.  And in any other location in Asia, only non-gaming 
14:18   3      inbound calls and travel preferences was allowed? 
14:18   4 
14:18   5      A.  Yes. 
14:18   6 
14:18   7      Q.  This is about inbound calls with junket operators.  Won't 
14:18   8      worry about that. Go to the next one, please, operator. 
14:18   9 
14:18  10      These are prohibited activities, so these all concern - apply to 
14:18  11      PRC customers, everything was prohibited. 
14:18  12 
14:18  13      Then the next page again, please, operator, this is about visits to 
14:19  14      other countries.  I will give you a moment to have a look at that. 
14:19  15 
14:19  16      A.  Yes. 
14:19  17 
14:19  18      Q.  Over the page again, please, operator. 
14:19  19 
14:19  20      The prohibited activities in relation to all of those matters on 
14:19  21      visits to relevant Asian countries; do you see that? 
14:19  22 
14:19  23      A.  Yes. 
14:19  24 
14:19  25      Q.  I'm not going to take you through the rest of the slides 
14:19  26      because they relate to other matters, like gifts, privacy, 
14:19  27      travel-approved devices, debt collection, that sort of thing. 
14:19  28 
14:19  29      A.  Yes. 
14:19  30 
14:19  31      Q.  So the slides or the notes I've just taken you to you will 
14:19  32      recall deal with outbound sales and inbound sales and said 
14:20  33      nothing about meetings? 
14:20  34 
14:20  35      A.  Yes. 
14:20  36 
14:20  37      Q.  In this document? 
14:20  38 
14:20  39      A.  Yes. 
14:20  40 
14:20  41      Q.  But in the document I took you to - the risk matrix table in 
14:20  42      February 2017 had some discussion about meetings, and you 
14:20  43      agree with me that meetings, one-on-one meetings by staff in 
14:20  44      Hong Kong with non-PRC customers was not prohibited? 
14:20  45 
14:20  46      A.  In Hong Kong? 
14:20  47
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14:25   1 
14:25   2      MS NESKOVCIN:  --- not from Mr Murphy but from other 
14:25   3      sources, was it overtaken by advice that Mr Murphy got?  Were 
14:25   4      they forum shopping or advice shopping? 
14:25   5 
14:26   6      COMMISSIONER:  You could legitimately ask Mr Murphy 
14:26   7      whether he agrees with certain propositions without worrying 
14:26   8      about the source.  "Do you agree that in Macau you are allowed 
14:26   9      to do X?" 
14:26  10 
14:26  11      MS NESKOVCIN:  Yes. 
14:26  12 
14:26  13      COMMISSIONER:  Do it that way. 
14:26  14 
14:26  15      MS NESKOVCIN:  All right. 
14:26  16 
14:26  17      COMMISSIONER:  Long hand. 
14:26  18 
14:26  19      MR BORSKY:  This document needs to be removed from the 
14:26  20      screen visible to Mr Murphy, please. 
14:26  21 
14:26  22      COMMISSIONER:  I don't think he can see it. 
14:26  23 
14:26  24      A.  I haven't read it. 
14:26  25 
14:26  26      COMMISSIONER:  Good. 
14:26  27 
14:26  28      MR BORSKY:  That will satisfy me, thank you. 
14:26  29 
14:26  30      COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 
14:26  31 
14:27  32      While you are working on that, I assume, Mr Borsky, that there is 
14:27  33      no possibility that Mr Murphy was one of the - Mr Murphy's 
14:27  34      advice or his firm's advice is not one of the advices that 
14:27  35      Williamson relies on to prepare her document? 
14:27  36 
14:27  37      MR BORSKY:  That's my --- 
14:27  38 
14:27  39      COMMISSIONER:  It's not a question of understanding.  If the 
14:27  40      position is it has nothing to do with MinterEllison, then your 
14:27  41      privilege claim is okay.  If it has something to do with 
14:27  42      MinterEllison or Mr Murphy, if it is his advice, he's privy to the 
14:27  43      communication and can look at it. 
14:27  44 
14:27  45      MR BORSKY:  I accept what you put to me and I will check 
14:27  46      again.  Yes. 
14:27  47
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14:36   1 
14:36   2      Q.  I know you said you didn't have an understanding about 
14:36   3      above the line or below the line, I didn't qualify that in relation to 
14:36   4      any particular country.  In relation to Malaysia, did you 
14:36   5      understand above-the-line advertising or marketing to have any 
14:36   6      particular meaning or to be a term used by Crown internally? 
14:36   7 
14:36   8      A.  No. 
14:36   9 
14:36  10      Q.  In Malaysia, did you understand it to be illegal to conduct 
14:37  11      above-the-line advertising directed to promoting gambling of 
14:37  12      foreign casinos? 
14:37  13 
14:37  14      A.  So, if by "above the line" you mean sort of large-scale 
14:37  15      promotion to the public, then I understood that to be illegal. 
14:37  16 
14:37  17      Q.  Yes.  Thank you. 
14:37  18 
14:37  19      COMMISSIONER:  "Above the line", I've got no idea what it 
14:37  20      means, but it might mean, when contrasted with "below the line", 
14:37  21      one open and the other clandestine. 
14:37  22 
14:37  23      MS NESKOVCIN:  No, Commissioner, no. 
14:37  24 
14:37  25      COMMISSIONER:  Okay, forget it. 
14:37  26 
14:37  27      MS NESKOVCIN:  We will at one point go to that, but I won't 
14:37  28      explain that in front of Mr Murphy. 
14:37  29 
14:37  30      COMMISSIONER:  I'm butting out, don't listen to me. 
14:37  31 
14:37  32      I did have one question on privilege.  It is an interesting 
14:37  33      question - it might have been overtaken by events.  I remember 
14:37  34      reading in Wigmore a long time ago, I haven't had a need to read 
14:38  35      that Wigmore for a very long time, there was a debate about 
14:38  36      whether advice from foreign lawyers was protected by privilege. 
14:38  37      I know there are cases that have looked at it, is there 
14:38  38      an authoritative answer to that as opposed to musings by judges? 
14:38  39 
14:38  40      MR BORSKY:  The short answer is it is privileged, 
14:38  41      notwithstanding that the advice is from foreign lawyers, but we 
14:38  42      can assist you in more detail at an appropriate time if you would 
14:38  43      like. 
14:38  44 
14:38  45      COMMISSIONER:  Just interesting. 
14:38  46 
14:38  47      MR BORSKY:  Okay.  While I'm on my feet, if I may, we are
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14:41   1      A.  Yes. 
14:41   2 
14:41   3      Q.  Then if we go forward to page 5596 you see at the bottom 
14:41   4      of the page, "General Update and VIP Operating Model"? 
14:41   5 
14:41   6      A.  Yes. 
14:41   7 
14:41   8      Q.  And in page 5597 we had earlier discussed the dot point 
14:42   9      mentioning the meeting on 27 April 2017. 
14:42  10 
14:42  11      A.  Yes. 
14:42  12 
14:42  13      Q.  Scrolling down further, please, operator.  At the top of the 
14:42  14      page it says: 
14:42  15 
14:42  16               The detailed operating protocols contemplate that staff 
14:42  17               based in Hong Kong ..... may visit other Asian centres ..... 
14:42  18 
14:42  19      You see that? 
14:42  20 
14:42  21      A.  Yes. 
14:42  22 
14:42  23      Q.  The next dot point, I will allow you to read that to yourself, 
14:42  24      please, Mr Murphy. 
14:42  25 
14:42  26      A.  Yes. 
14:42  27 
14:42  28      Q.  And then the next dot point: 
14:42  29 
14:43  30               Recently, in an effort to better understand local 
14:43  31              enforcement risks in key centres, the company engaged 
14:43  32              MinterEllison to assist in ascertaining the local, political, 
14:43  33              legal and cultural environment affecting the enforcement 
14:43  34              of gaming-related laws in specified Asian countries and 
14:43  35              MinterEllison engaged Hakluyt, an international strategic 
14:43  36              intelligence and advisory firm, to provide input. 
14:43  37 
14:43  38      You mentioned earlier strategic advice was sought from Hakluyt. 
14:43  39      According to your instructions, why was it necessary to obtain  
14:43  40      strategic intelligence and strategic advice from Hakluyt if what 
14:43  41      Crown was doing was legal in other countries? 
14:43  42 
14:43  43      A.  So the application of foreign laws involves the assessment 
14:44  44      of what the law actually says, how it might be interpreted, and 
14:44  45      how it might be enforced and what are the politics around 
14:44  46      enforcement.  And, in countries where the law is not clearly 
14:44  47      expressed, how it is going to be interpreted in terms of what it
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14:48   1 
14:48   2      A.  Because the advice had been that the advice from Hakluyt, 
14:48   3      I think it was, had been that it was potentially particularly 
14:48   4      offensive for Muslim people to be associated with anything to do 
14:48   5      with gambling. 
14:48   6 
14:48   7      Q.  And just to be clear, so that was not directed to the legality 
14:48   8      of the conduct, it was directed to it giving rise to enforcement 
14:48   9      risk? 
14:48  10 
14:48  11      A.  Yes, that's right. 
14:48  12 
14:48  13      COMMISSIONER:  Can I ask, the local staff, that is Crown staff, 
14:48  14      going to do things in Singapore, what kind of non-gaming 
14:49  15      conduct - they weren't go to the export/import business.  What 
14:49  16      were they doing there if it was not gaming related? 
14:49  17 
14:49  18      A.  Entertainment. 
14:49  19 
14:49  20      COMMISSIONER:  What kind? 
14:49  21 
14:49  22      A.  So going out to lunches and dinners and --- 
14:49  23 
14:49  24      COMMISSIONER:  With local people? 
14:49  25 
14:49  26      A.  Yes, with the patrons.  So if it was a substantial Crown 
14:49  27      customer --- 
14:49  28 
14:49  29      COMMISSIONER:  I see.  I get it. 
14:49  30 
14:49  31      A.  Just maintaining --- 
14:49  32 
14:49  33      COMMISSIONER:  So if they are wooing a customer, but don't 
14:49  34      say what you are wooing him for? 
14:49  35 
14:49  36      A.  Well, it's maintaining contact with a good customer, and 
14:49  37      potentially building a relationship with a new customer. 
14:49  38 
14:49  39      COMMISSIONER:  And you call that non-gaming related? 
14:49  40 
14:49  41      A.  Yes. 
14:49  42 
14:49  43      COMMISSIONER:  How is it non-gaming related? 
14:49  44 
14:49  45      A.  Well, you are not talking about gaming, you are talking 
14:49  46      about coming to Australia and coming to Melbourne, it is 
14:49  47      a wonderful city and ---
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14:49   1 
14:49   2      COMMISSIONER:  That's not what they are really talking 
14:49   3      about? 
14:49   4 
14:49   5      A.  Well, to my instructions they were. 
14:50   6 
14:50   7      COMMISSIONER:  I get the instructions, but that's not the real 
14:50   8      world.  In the real world if you go over there and schmooze with 
14:50   9      a rich patron who you want to take over and gamble, you have to 
14:50  10     take him to the local equivalent of Flower Drum, have a nice 
14:50  11     drink and hope he comes back?  Really? 
14:50  12 
14:50  13      A.  Well, that's my understanding of the --- 
14:50  14 
14:50  15      COMMISSIONER:  They are your instructions? 
14:50  16 
14:50  17      A.  I mean I haven't been told anything to the contrary, 
14:50  18      Commissioner. 
14:50  19 
14:50  20      COMMISSIONER:  They are not likely to tell you to the contrary 
14:50  21      because they want good advice from you so they are saying, "we 
14:50  22      will not say anything about gambling, won't pass our lips, we will 
14:50  23      just be really, really nice to these super rich patrons" for what 
14:50  24      purpose, other than coming back to Melbourne or Perth or 
14:50  25      wherever.  It seems artificial to me. 
14:50  26 
14:51  27      A.  Well, there are cultural factors that play into this as well, 
14:51  28      Commissioner. 
14:51  29 
14:51  30      COMMISSIONER:  Sure.  You have to be nice to your 
14:51  31      patrons --- 
14:51  32 
14:51  33      A.  Yes. 
14:51  34 
14:51  35      COMMISSIONER:  ---  otherwise they are not going to come 
14:51  36      back.  You don't need to be from different cultures to know that. 
14:51  37      Everybody knows that.  I'm trying to work out - they are not 
14:51  38      running some other business there, they are not selling sweets, 
14:51  39      they are not selling ice-cream or going into an export business, 
14:51  40      they are there as employees of a casino.  I don't know why - I 
14:51  41      guess you can treat that as low-risk in the sense that nobody 
14:51  42      knows what they are doing, it is not overt, because if they were 
14:51  43      really unrelated to gambling, there would be no risk, not a low 
14:51  44      risk.  In other words, somebody will see through it all, that's what 
14:51  45      I'm getting at. 
14:51  46 
14:51  47      A.  Well, Commissioner, there may well still be a risk of
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14:51   1      people's conduct being characterised in a way that it wasn't or --- 
14:52   2 
14:52   3      COMMISSIONER:  Then anybody who goes to a country runs 
14:52   4      that kind of risk. 
14:52   5 
14:52   6      A.  Yes, that is so. 
14:52   7 
14:52   8      COMMISSIONER:  We're talking about people who have no 
14:52   9      other activity in mind other than dealing with rich patrons or 
14:52  10      customers of the business, and they want to keep that custom 
14:52  11      going? 
14:52  12 
14:52  13      A.  Yes.  They want to maintain that customer relationship and 
14:52  14      build it to the extent they can. 
14:52  15 
14:52  16      COMMISSIONER:  You wouldn't have great difficulty getting 
14:52  17      an Australian statute to be construed, you might be at risk even if 
14:52  18      not a Singaporean one or a Malaysian one. 
14:52  19 
14:52  20      A.  And, Commissioner, to my understanding, it is a very 
14:52  21      competitive industry, and that many other foreign casinos are 
14:52  22      competing in that way and seeking to steal Crown's customers 
14:52  23      and --- 
14:52  24 
14:52  25      COMMISSIONER:  Once upon a time Australian businesses 
14:53  26      used to use that as an excuse for graft.  We passed legislation at 
14:53  27      Commonwealth level saying that is not an excuse.  You cannot 
14:53  28      bribe a foreign official just because every other firm that you are 
14:53  29      competing with bribes foreign officials to do business -- 
14:53  30 
14:53  31      A.  Sure. 
14:53  32 
14:53  33      COMMISSIONER:  --- and some Australian firms walked away 
14:53  34      from the Asian market because of the Australian legislation.  The 
14:53  35      fact that everybody else does it --- 
14:53  36 
14:53  37      A.  I'm not suggesting they are doing anything improper in 
14:53  38      doing that, Commissioner, I'm just saying it is a competitive 
14:53  39      market --- 
14:53  40 
14:53  41      COMMISSIONER:  And they are all doing it. 
14:53  42 
14:53  43      A.  --- in which they are all entertaining their patrons and 
14:53  44      showing respect to them, which is valued in some cultures -- 
14:53  45 
14:53  46      COMMISSIONER:  Sure it is. 
14:53  47
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14:53   1      A.  --- in order to be able to compete, therefore, Crown 
14:53   2      considered it to be --- 
14:53   3 
14:53   4      COMMISSIONER:  That is 100 per cent right.  I agree.  In order 
14:53   5      to compete for their custom. 
14:53   6 
14:53   7      A.  Yes. 
14:53   8 
14:53   9      COMMISSIONER:  Gambling related.  They are not competing 
14:54  10     for anything else. 
14:54  11 
14:54  12      A.  Well, they also competing for hotels.  They have other hotel 
14:54  13      staff that do international marketing and they are only out there 
14:54  14      marketing hotels. 
14:54  15 
14:54  16      COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I'm going to ask a question about 
14:54  17      timing and we want to have a break.  Have you got a rough idea, 
14:54  18      and then I will ask Mr Murphy what his plans for the evening 
14:54  19      are? 
14:54  20 
14:54  21      MS NESKOVCIN:  It's not going to come to that.  I think I 
14:54  22      should finish by 4-ish but then there - maybe 4.15 and then if 
14:54  23      there are questions from my learned friends that means we might 
14:54  24      go beyond that. 
14:54  25 
14:54  26      COMMISSIONER:  Yes.  Or me. 
14:54  27 
14:54  28      MS NESKOVCIN:  Or you. 
14:54  29 
14:54  30      COMMISSIONER:  Are you okay if we sit on a bit beyond 4? 
14:54  31 
14:54  32      A.  Yes, I am, Commissioner. 
14:54  33 
14:54  34      COMMISSIONER:  Good.  If you get it over and done with 
14:55  35      today, it is easier.  Break for 10 minutes. 
14:55  36 
14:55  37 
14:55  38      ADJOURNED [2:55P.M.] 
15:07  39 
15:07  40 
15:07  41      RESUMED [3:07P.M.] 
15:07  42 
15:07  43 
15:07  44      COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Just out of interest, decisions 
15:07  45      going both ways in Federal Court saying unnecessary to decide. 
15:07  46      Roger Gyles in 2004, Kennedy v Wallace, said privilege does not 
15:07  47      apply.  Went to the Full Court and the Full Court said they will
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15:07   1      worry about it another day.  There are other single instance 
15:08   2      decisions in Australia and England that say it does apply.  They 
15:08   3      are all quite recent cases, nothing old, so - I thought it was still 
15:08   4      up for grabs, that's why I said, is there an authoritative decision. 
15:08   5      I think the answer is "no", in the Court of Appeal decision.  I 
15:08   6      haven't looked at this for so many years.  I have no idea what the 
15:08   7      circuits in the US have been saying about this, if anything.  It is 
15:08   8      just interesting because --- 
15:08   9 
15:08  10      MR BORSKY:  It is interesting. 
15:08  11 
15:08  12      COMMISSIONER:  Very.  Maybe more interesting than lots of 
15:08  13      other things that have happened so far. 
15:08  14 
15:08  15      MR BORSKY:  No comment! 
15:08  16 
15:08  17      COMMISSIONER:  It's worth a look, though, because it's not 
15:08  18      an insignificant point at least for the topic we are discussing at the 
15:08  19      moment. 
15:08  20 
15:08  21      MS NESKOVCIN:  Mr Murphy, just before the break we were 
15:08  22      talking about the - we were looking at the meeting pack for 
15:09  23      December 2018 and the proposal to revisit the VIP operating 
15:09  24      model so far as Singapore and Malaysia was concerned. 
15:09  25 
15:09  26      A.  Yes. 
15:09  27 
15:09  28      Q.  I want to now take you to the Risk Management Committee 
15:09  29      pack in February 2019 which contains an advice you prepared for 
15:09  30      Mr Preston in relation to Malaysia.  It is CRL.506.006.5619. 
15:09  31 
15:09  32      Operator, if we could please go to 0890.  Perhaps what I was on, 
15:10  33      operator, were the minutes of the meeting, not the pack, so could 
15:10  34      we please go to CRW.507.004.0879, at 8090. 
15:10  35 
15:10  36      Mr Murphy, this is a memorandum that Mr Felstead prepared to 
15:10  37      the Board of Directors of Crown Resorts on 7 February 2019 in 
15:10  38      relation to the VIP operating model for Malaysia and Singapore; 
15:10  39      do you see that? 
15:10  40 
15:10  41      A.  Yes. 
15:10  42 
15:10  43      Q.  You assisted Mr Felstead in the preparation of this 
15:10  44      memorandum, did you not? 
15:10  45 
15:10  46      A.  Yes. 
15:10  47
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15:10   1      Q.  Also included in this packet at 0896 is an advice or a letter 
15:11   2      you sent to Mr Preston on 6 February 2019.  This is in relation to 
15:11   3      Malaysia and Hakluyt's advice or the information that it had 
15:11   4      provided you at that time in relation to Malaysia. 
15:11   5 
15:11   6      A.  Yes. 
15:11   7 
15:11   8      Q.  And I just want to look at - I take it, I haven't seen the 
15:11   9      original letter from Hakluyt, but if we scroll down the page a bit, 
15:11  10      operator, you see in your letter where you are extracting 
15:11  11      summaries from Hakluyt's advice that there are some references 
15:11  12      in bold and then some ellipsis, was the bold your emphasis or 
15:11  13      Hakluyt's emphasis? 
15:11  14 
15:11  15      A.  Hakluyt's. 
15:11  16 
15:11  17      Q.  I see.  I just wanted to actually focus on the sections in bold 
15:11  18      because they are convenient telegraphing of some of the points. 
15:12  19      Here on this page they identified that little has changed since the 
15:12  20      election.  Do you see that? 
15:12  21 
15:12  22      A.  Yes. 
15:12  23 
15:12  24      Q.  They've bolded the reference to the Government appears 
15:12  25      disinclined to make significant reforms. 
15:12  26 
15:12  27      Over the page, please, operator. 
15:12  28 
15:12  29      The next sentence in bold: 
15:12  30 
15:12  31               The politics surrounding gambling, however, remain 
15:12  32               sensitive ..... 
15:12  33 
15:12  34      And the next sentence involves: 
15:12  35 
15:12  36               .... and issues of Muslim morality could yet become 
15:12  37               a catalyst for punitive action. 
15:12  38 
15:12  39      Next: 
15:12  40 
15:12  41               While specific moves to regulate foreign operators are 
15:12  42               unlikely ..... it is advisable to abide by the 'unwritten rules' 
15:12  43               around casino promotion." 
15:12  44 
15:12  45      Keep scrolling down and it says: 
15:12  46 
15:12  47               Hakluyt's commentary around the matters is as follows .....
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15:22   1 
15:22   2      COMMISSIONER:  That has nothing to do with not being in 
15:22   3      breach.  That is saying the law will not be enforced against you. 
15:22   4      You will not be prosecuted, or there is a low risk that you will be 
15:22   5      prosecuted if you keep a low profile.  That's not saying you are 
15:22   6      not breaking the law.  That is saying your chances of being 
15:22   7      prosecuted are slight.  That's what enforcement of the law means. 
15:22   8 
15:22   9      A.  So, yes, Commissioner.  Against the background that 
15:22  10      Crown staff in China were not breaching local law in the way we 
15:22  11      would interpret that law --- (speaking over) --- 
15:22  12 
15:22  13      COMMISSIONER:  --- is interpreted --- 
15:22  14 
15:23  15      A.  Yes. 
15:23  16 
15:23  17      COMMISSIONER:  But they don't apply our principles of 
15:23  18      statutory construction. 
15:23  19 
15:23  20      A.  Yes.  So the law can be interpreted in those jurisdictions to 
15:23  21      mean whatever the Government of the day potentially wants it to 
15:23  22      be.  That --- 
15:23  23 
15:23  24      COMMISSIONER:  Or the courts.  Not so much the 
15:23  25      Government.  I know that in China you have the Procuratorate  and 
15:23  26      they sit around with the judges and make sure they behave 
15:23  27      themselves, but I am sure that that is not true --- I know it is not 
15:23  28      true in Indonesia, I've got no knowledge about other countries, 
15:23  29      but I understand there is political interference in the legal system, 
15:23  30      or potentially so, but here you are giving advice about not only 
15:23  31      what might be artificially politically-motivated application of the 
15:23  32      law, but you are talking about how the law, properly understood, 
15:23  33      properly might work against you. 
15:23  34 
15:23  35      A.  That's not what I was intending to convey, Commissioner. 
15:24  36      It is against the background of the experience in China where the 
15:24  37      law was enforced in a way that wasn't predicted, and so the 
15:24  38      emphasis was around not only understanding what the local law 
15:24  39      says with all its uncertainties, but how is it likely to be applied. 
15:24  40 
15:24  41      COMMISSIONER:  Can you make this thing go back to the 
15:24  42      page where I have the word "reality"? 
15:24  43 
15:24  44      MS NESKOVCIN:  I think it was the previous page. 
15:24  45 
15:24  46      COMMISSIONER:  Yes, I think so.  Yes, 6(d). 
15:24  47
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15:36   1      Q.  If we go to the next page, please, operator, and you see the 
15:36   2      heading in the box there, although it's the shaded first row in the 
15:36   3      box "risk”.  “Existing controls in place for Hong Kong based staff 
15:36   4      who travel into country" and "additional controls proposed". 
15:36   5 
15:37   6      A.  Yes. 
15:37   7 
15:37   8      Q.  So I take that to mean that the second column under the 
15:37   9      heading "existing controls" is a reference to controls that were in 
15:37  10     place prior to including Malaysia as part of the operating VIP 
15:37  11     business in Singapore, sorry, in Malaysia and the additional 
15:37  12     controls of what is going to be introduced once Crown has staff 
15:37  13     based in Malaysia; is that correct? 
15:37  14 
15:37  15      A.  It looks like it, yes.  I don't (inaudible) I have contributed to this 
15:37  16      document.  It looks like it is one of the internal risk framework 
15:37  17      documents. 
15:37  18 
15:37  19      Q.  Could we go to the next page, please, operator.  At 
15:37  20      paragraph 3 it says: 
15:37  21 
15:38  22               Breach of local expectations, cultural beliefs and 
15:38  23               'unwritten rules'. 
15:38  24 
15:38  25      In the additional controls proposed, there is to be: 
15:38  26 
15:38  27               No proactive engagement to take place with ethnic 
15:38  28               Malays. 
15:38  29 
15:38  30      Do you see that? 
15:38  31 
15:38  32      A.  Yes. 
15:38  33 
15:38  34      Q.  Over the page, please, operator. 
15:38  35 
15:38  36      I just give you a moment to read the next few dot points in that 
15:38  37      section. 
15:38  38 
15:38  39      A.  Sorry, starting with? 
15:38  40 
15:38  41      Q.  The second column, these are the additional protocols to be 
15:38  42      adopted.  Employees in country should record details, et cetera. 
15:38  43 
15:38  44      A.  Thank you.  Yes. 
15:38  45 
15:38  46      Q.  So, again, in relation to the last dot point there is really no 
15:39  47      way of knowing what the unwritten rules are because they are
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15:41   1      A.  Yes. 
15:41   2 
15:41   3      MS NESKOVCIN:  Was it also directed to a point raised in 
15:41   4      Hakluyt's advice that the governments were more concerned in 
15:41   5      an enforcement sense where gambling is directed to people to 
15:41   6      whom it might harm? 
15:41   7 
15:41   8      A.  Yes, I think that was said. 
15:42   9 
15:42  10      Q.  I will just show you the Singapore protocol, 
15:42  11      MEM.5001.0002.5451.  This was sent to you on 21 February 
15:42  12      2019 by Mr Preston and - I take it this was a Crown document 
15:42  13      and you were simply asked to provide comments, you didn't draft 
15:42  14      it? 
15:42  15 
15:42  16      A.  Yes, that's correct. 
15:42  17 
15:42  18      Q.  The VIP operating model in Asia that you were asked to 
15:42  19      assist with was only for Asia, at the outset I asked you about New 
15:42  20      Zealand, you mentioned that that wasn't part of the engagement 
15:42  21      role back in 2017. 
15:42  22 
15:42  23      A.  Yes. 
15:42  24 
15:42  25      Q.  Moving to early 2021, were you asked, you, MinterEllison, 
15:42  26      asked to provide any advice in relation to Crown's operations in 
15:43  27      New Zealand? 
15:43  28 
15:43  29      A.  No. 
15:43  30 
15:43  31      Q.  Have you ever turned your mind to the legal regime in New 
15:43  32      Zealand? 
15:43  33 
15:43  34      A.  I might have, but it would be going back seven, eight years 
15:43  35      or more, I think. 
15:43  36 
15:43  37      Q.  Are you aware that - just a moment. 
15:43  38 
15:43  39      A.  Actually I'm not even sure I've done that for Crown, 
15:43  40      actually.  So I think for Crown, no. 
15:43  41 
15:43  42      Q.  Thank you.  I want to show you this document, it's 
15:43  43      CRW.008.031.5047.  You mentioned earlier that in later times 
15:43  44      Crown engaged FTI Consulting to provide some strategic advice 
15:44  45      or analysis? 
15:44  46 
15:44  47      A.  Yes.
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15:56   1 
15:57   2      Q.  And when do you believe that occurred? 
15:57   3 
15:57   4      A.  Around the time --- 
15:57   5 
15:57   6      COMMISSIONER:  Just go back to the top of the page. 
15:57   7 
15:57   8      A.  What date was this? 
15:57   9 
15:57  10      MS NESKOVCIN:  This is 30 December 2020.  New Year's Eve. 
15:57  11 
15:57  12      A.  Yes, I believe it would have been sometime in January. 
15:57  13 
15:57  14      Q.  I will show you this document, MEM.5002.0012.1890. 
15:57  15      The person you mentioned, is that Mr Meade? 
15:57  16 
15:57  17      A.  Yes. 
15:57  18 
15:57  19      Q.  This is another document from Mr Meade on 19 January 
15:57  20      2021 regarding Persons of Interest committee referrals? 
15:57  21 
15:57  22      A.  Yes. 
15:57  23 
15:57  24      Q.  You understand POI to be a reference to Persons of 
15:58  25      Interest.  Have you seen this document before? 
15:58  26 
15:58  27      A.  Copied to it. 
15:58  28 
15:58  29      Q.  Yes.  Are you familiar with it? 
15:58  30 
15:58  31      A.  Recently. 
15:58  32 
15:58  33      Q.  Do you know what the purpose of this document was? 
15:58  34 
15:58  35      A.  It appears to be an update of that December version of the 
15:58  36      summary of the information that we had in connection with these 
15:58  37      various people. 
15:58  38 
15:58  39      Q.  To your knowledge, was it the case that Crown was 
15:58  40      contemplating dealing with the individuals in this document as 
15:58  41      a player or patron? 
15:59  42 
15:59  43      A.  My understanding is the Persons of Interest Committee, or 
15:59  44      a group styled like that, were meeting to determine whether 
15:59  45      Crown should continue to deal in any capacity with a range of 
15:59  46      individuals, and these are some of those individuals.  So this was 
15:59  47      collecting together information we had in connection we had with
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15:59   1      those individuals. 
15:59   2 
15:59   3      Q.  When you say "we" had? 
15:59   4 
15:59   5      A.  We, MinterEllison, as a result of being involved in the 
15:59   6      ILGA Inquiry and receiving all the material for that. 
15:59   7 
15:59   8      Q.  I see.  Was it a comprehensive review of all persons who 
15:59   9      were junket operators who they were considering dealing with, or 
15:59  10      just the people that had arisen through the ILGA Inquiry? 
16:00  11 
16:00  12      A.  Yes, the people about whom we had reasonable amount of 
16:00  13      information from the ILGA Inquiry. 
16:00  14 
16:00  15      Q.  Four of the individuals named in this document were the 
16:00  16      persons who were the subject of Show Cause Notices from the 
16:00  17      VCGLR that resulted in disciplinary action. 
16:00  18 
16:00  19      A.  Yes. 
16:00  20 
16:00  21      Q.  Are you aware of that? 
16:00  22 
16:00  23      A.  Yes. 
16:00  24 
16:00  25      Q.  This is dated 19 January 2021.  You see that? 
16:00  26 
16:00  27      A.  Yes. 
16:00  28 
16:00  29      Q.  Two days later, on 21 January 2021, Crown conceded that 
16:00  30      each of those individuals were persons with whom Crown should 
16:00  31      not deal, were you aware of that? 
16:00  32 
16:00  33      A.  Are you referring to the VCGLR hearing? 
16:00  34 
16:00  35      Q.  Yes.  You weren't there I don't think. 
16:00  36 
16:00  37      A.  No. 
16:00  38 
16:00  39      Q.  You weren't aware that Crown had said that? 
16:00  40 
16:00  41      A.  No, I'm not aware of the detail of the concessions that were 
16:01  42      made on that day. 
16:01  43 
16:01  44      Q.  I was wondering whether you could assist us to understand 
16:01  45      why those four individuals continue to be the subject of 
16:01  46      consideration in this memorandum when Crown had told the 
16:01  47      regulator two days later that it had accepted it should not deal
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16:05   1      Q.  Did MinterEllison provide any advice to Crown arising out 
16:05   2      of any of the matters identified in that report? 
16:05   3 
16:06   4      A.  Yes.  I believe we did an advice to Crown on that report. 
16:06   5 
16:06   6      Q.  What was the subject matter of the advice?  The report was 
16:06   7      about the junket due diligence process.  I will just go back a step. 
16:06   8      You recall the allegations that have been made in the media in 
16:06   9      June and August 2019.  At the end of July 2019, Crown issued 
16:06  10     a media release, one of the comments made in the media release 
16:06  11     was to the effect that Crown has a robust junket process or --- 
16:06  12 
16:06  13      A.  Yes. 
16:06  14 
16:06  15      Q.  --- something to that effect? 
16:06  16 
16:06  17      A.  Yes. 
16:06  18 
16:06  19      Q.  The next step in the sequence seems to be that Crown's 
16:06  20      through MinterEllison engaged FTI to do a report into whether or 
16:06  21      not the junket due diligence process is defensible.  FTI produced 
16:07  22      that report.  You mentioned that MinterEllison provided some 
16:07  23      advice to Crown on that report.  Can you recall the nature of the 
16:07  24      advice and the effect of it? 
16:07  25 
16:07  26      A.  The nature of the advice was this is what FTI says about the 
16:07  27      processes and the databases that are available to do searches on 
16:07  28      international patrons and junket operators.  My recollection is that 
16:07  29      that was perhaps the thrust of the exercise, to just ascertain what 
16:07  30      due diligence resources are available to be able, to compare those 
16:08  31      with the resources that Crown was using. 
16:08  32 
16:08  33      Q.  Was there any advice given to Crown about what it should 
16:08  34      do with the FTI report, as in make it public, provide it to the 
16:08  35      regulator? 
16:08  36 
16:08  37      A.  No.  It was done as an exercise under privilege to ascertain 
16:08  38      what these due diligence resources might be in order to then --- 
16:08  39      for Crown to then consider what it might do about its due 
16:08  40      diligence processes. 
16:08  41 
16:08  42      Q.  Did you discuss the report or your advice with anyone at 
16:08  43      Crown? 
16:08  44 
16:08  45      A.  Yes.  I would have with my instructor. 
16:08  46 
16:08  47      Q.  Mr Preston?
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16:08   1 
16:08   2      A.  Yes. 
16:08   3 
16:08   4      Q.  Anyone else? 
16:09   5 
16:09   6      A.  I don't believe so, no. 
16:09   7 
16:09   8      Q.  To your knowledge, did you ever present that to the Board 
16:09   9      of Crown Resorts Ltd or the Board of Crown Melbourne Ltd? 
16:09  10 
16:09  11      A.  No. 
16:09  12 
16:09  13      Q.  Or any Committee of either of those Boards? 
16:09  14 
16:09  15      A.  No. 
16:09  16 
16:09  17      MS NESKOVCIN:  Commissioner, they are the questions I have 
16:09  18      for Mr Murphy. 
16:09  19 
16:09  20 
16:09  21      QUESTIONS BY THE COMMISSIONER 
16:09  22 
16:09  23 
16:09  24      COMMISSIONER:  Yes, thank you. 
16:09  25 
16:09  26      Can I change topics. 
16:09  27 
16:09  28      A.  Yes, Commissioner. 
16:09  29 
16:09  30      COMMISSIONER:  I've heard a lot about a potential 
16:09  31      underpayment of tax by Crown.  I've seen some documents about 
16:09  32      that and your name doesn't appear on any of them.  So that might 
16:09  33      be a bit of good luck.  Do you know anything about it, or did you 
16:09  34      know anything about it when the issue was raised with 
16:09  35      MinterEllison a couple of years ago? 
16:09  36 
16:09  37      A.  No, I wasn't involved, Commissioner. 
16:09  38 
16:09  39      COMMISSIONER:  At all? 
16:09  40 
16:09  41      A.  I mean, I did see some documents in relation to it at the 
16:10  42      time, but I wasn't involved in the consideration of it. 
16:10  43 
16:10  44      COMMISSIONER:  Nor with any in-house lawyers or Crown 
16:10  45      representatives about the topics? 
16:10  46 
16:10  47      A.  No, not that I recall, Commissioner, and certainly not at
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16:10   1      any --- 
16:10   2 
16:10   3      COMMISSIONER:  Serious level? 
16:10   4 
16:10   5      A.  In - serious level, yes. 
16:10   6 
16:10   7      COMMISSIONER:  Okay, thanks. 
16:10   8 
16:10   9      Mr Hanks, do you want to ask any questions? 
16:10  10 
16:10  11      MR HANKS:  Commissioner, no, thank you. 
16:10  12 
16:10  13      COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr Hanks. 
16:10  14 
16:10  15      MR BORSKY:  I have no questions either, Commissioner. 
16:10  16 
16:10  17      COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 
16:10  18 
16:10  19      MS NESKOVCIN:  Commissioner, if Mr Murphy could be 
16:10  20      excused? 
16:10  21 
16:10  22      COMMISSIONER:  Yes, you are free to go.  Thank you. 
16:10  23 
16:10  24      A.  Thank you, Commissioner. 
16:10  25 
16:10  26 
16:10  27      THE WITNESS WITHDREW 
16:10  28 
16:10  29 
16:10  30      MS NESKOVCIN:  There are no further witnesses today -- 
16:10  31 
16:10  32      COMMISSIONER:  Good. 
16:10  33 
16:11  34      MS NESKOVCIN:  --- nor are there any witnesses tomorrow, if 
16:11  35      the proceedings could be adjourned to 9.30 am on Thursday. 
16:11  36 
16:11  37      COMMISSIONER:  Okay, I will adjourn until then. 
16:11  38 
16:11  39 
16:11  40      HEARING ADJOURNED AT 4.11 PM UNTIL THURSDAY, 
16:16  41      1 JULY 2021 AT 9.30 AM 
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